

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: June 17, 2014 REVISED: October 20, 2014 ACCEPTED: October 20, 2014 PUBLISHED: October 30, 2014

Neutrino masses and conformal electro-weak symmetry breaking

Manfred Lindner, Steffen Schmidt and Juri Smirnov

Max-Planck-Institut für Kernphysik, Saupfercheckweg 1, 69117 Heidelberg, Germany E-mail: manfred.lindner@mpi-hd.mpg.de, schmidt@mpi-hd.mpg.de, juri.smirnov@mpi-hd.mpg.de

ABSTRACT: Dimensional transmutation in classically conformal invariant theories may explain the electro-weak scale and the fact that so far nothing but the Standard Model (SM) particles have been observed. We discuss in this paper implications of this type of symmetry breaking for neutrino mass generation.

KEYWORDS: Higgs Physics, Neutrino Physics

ARXIV EPRINT: 1405.6204

OPEN ACCESS, © The Authors. Article funded by SCOAP³.

Contents

Introduction	
Model building rules	3
2.1 General conformal building rules	3
2.2 The Weinberg operator case	4
2.3 Radiative models	6
Overview of viable models	6
Phenomenology	10
4.1 Pure left handed Majorana mass	13
4.2 Pseudo Dirac scenario	14
4.3 Sub-TeV Yukawa see-saw	15
4.4 Inverse Yukawa see-saw	17
4.5 Decoupled hidden sector	20
Conclusion	21
Conformal neutrino mass models	24
Fully radiative generated left-handed masses	35
	Introduction Model building rules 2.1 General conformal building rules 2.2 The Weinberg operator case 2.3 Radiative models Overview of viable models Phenomenology 4.1 Pure left handed Majorana mass 4.2 Pseudo Dirac scenario 4.3 Sub-TeV Yukawa see-saw 4.4 Inverse Yukawa see-saw 4.5 Decoupled hidden sector Conclusion Conformal neutrino mass models Fully radiative generated left-handed masses

1 Introduction

A key feature of quantum field theory (QFT) is that it can not predict overall scales. Scale ratios are, however, calculable and this leads to the question how large ratios can be explained or made natural. Symmetries play here an important role. The fermions of the Standard Model (SM) are protected by chiral symmetry such that only logarithmic corrections occur, while the SM Higgs mass is unprotected which leads to the famous hierarchy problem. As a consequence one expects either new physics in the TeV-range or a new symmetry which also leads to new particles in the TeV-range. This is one of the main motivations for the LHC, but so far no new particles or interactions showed up. Even though there are good reasons that e.g. supersymmetric particles show up at a somewhat higher scale one may wonder if the fact that so far no new particle has been found points into some other direction. A potential role of conformal symmetry has therefore recently been discussed as a solution and we would like to discuss in this paper the implications for neutrino mass generation.

It is interesting to note that the standard model of particle physics (SM) is nearly conformal invariant. Only the mass term of the scalar field which is responsible for the breaking of $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ symmetry violates conformal symmetry explicitly and all SM masses are directly proportional to this scale. Note that the introduction of an explicit Higgs mass term in the SM does not only break conformal invariance, but it also creates the hierarchy problem, namely the quadratic sensitivity of quantum corrections to high scales. It is therefore tempting to relate the breaking of conformal symmetry with the generation of the electro-weak (EW) scale by dimensional transmutation. Scale invariance is broken at the quantum level (i.e. it has an anomaly) even in perturbation theory [1], but it has been argued that the protective features of conformal symmetry may not be completely destroyed [2]. Specifically logarithmic sensitivities still would exist, while quadratic divergencies would be absent. Various attempts of this type exist in the literature [3–35] and applications for the breaking of the EW symmetry have recently received more attention.

Realizing these ideas within the SM corresponds to the Coleman-Weinberg effective potential, where $m_t < 79 \text{ GeV}$ would be required and where the Higgs mass would have to be $m_H \simeq 9 \text{ GeV}$. This is obviously ruled out. However, we know that the SM is incomplete, since neutrino masses must be included. Furthermore, there is no dark matter (DM) candidate in the SM. Phenomenologically successful models which employ conformal electro-weak symmetry breaking require therefore some extension and a number of them predict also interesting DM candidates [11, 18, 23, 30, 31, 36–39].

In this paper we focus on neutrino masses and we argue that the dynamical generation of scales forbids any explicit Majorana or Dirac mass term which would otherwise be possible and expected for a given set of fermions. This implies that all mass terms must be dimensionless Yukawa couplings times one of the vacuum expectation values (VEVs) generated by the dynamical symmetry breaking. This clearly alters expectations for neutrino masses and we will discuss how this leads naturally to a generic TeV scale see-saw, inverse see-saw and pseudo-Dirac scenarios.

It has been shown in [7, 9] that extending the SM by merely right-handed neutrinos and an additional scalar field can result in the correct low energy phenomenology. The basic idea is that introducing additional scalar degrees of freedom makes the running of the couplings such that spontaneous symmetry breaking is possible. The additional scalar singlet gets a VEV and by its admixture to the Higgs a mass term is generated which can again induce EW symmetry breaking. This cascading symmetry breaking mechanism results in the discussed model in the correct Higgs mass and VEV. Thus, the EW scale appears naturally given the particle content of the model.

The simplest model compatible with data contains a complex scalar singlet [40] and the symmetry breaking takes place entirely in the new scalar sector, then it is transmitted via the Higgs portal to the SM boson. Explicit Majorana masses are not allowed and Majorana mass terms arise via Majorana-Yukawa couplings to the new scalar, which exemplifies nicely how neutrino mass generation is affected. Note that this has immediate consequences for the expected Majorana mass terms. Usually, an explicit mass is expected to have the largest possible value allowed by the symmetries of the system, while it is now the product of the symmetry breaking hidden scalar with a TeV-scale VEV with a Yukawa coupling. Since the Yukawa couplings of the SM show numerically a huge range, we assume the same to be true more general for all Yukawa couplings and Majorana mass terms can consequently have now any value between zero and the symmetry breaking scale.

Motivated by this simple example we would like to discuss in this paper the changes for neutrino mass terms in conformally invariant theories in a more general way. We give therefore in section 2 an overview of the considered cases for the generation of neutrino masses within the framework of conformal theories. The consequences for the possible structure of VEVs are elaborated in the same paragraph. On the other hand we investigate if different conformally invariant neutrino mass models are possible at all with regard to the occurrence of radiative symmetry breaking and the correct Higgs mass. The different models are presented in section 3 and are divided into two parts. The first part is based on mere extensions of the particle content of the SM, whereas the second part consists of theories that extend the SM gauge group by a U(1) symmetry which separates a Hidden Sector (HS) from the SM. Different models within these parts are organized by their effects on the neutrino mass matrix \mathcal{M} .

For neutrino masses it is in this context crucial that conformal symmetry forbids explicit mass scales in the classical Lagrangian. Phenomenological viable conformal EW symmetry breaking employs Higgs portals which connect to another sector with TeV scale dynamical mass generation. This implies that all Dirac and Majorana fermion masses are governed by this TeV scale or by the EW scale times some Yukawa coupling. This severely affects expectations for neutrino masses. A parameter scan for an effective model reveals that there are basically four phenomenological classes of theories. This scan is performed in section 4. We summarize our findings and conclude with a discussion in section 5.

2 Model building rules

In this section we present model building rules for neutrino masses in a theory with classically conformal Lagrangian. Specifically we consider the following cases for neutrino masses in extensions of the standard model.

- The SM can be embedded in a larger gauge group, which breaks to the required gauge group to describe the observed particle spectrum as is the case in GUT models.
- The SM gauge group can be left unchanged and additional fields postulated.
- A Hidden Sector (HS) with an additional symmetry group can be postulated. Resulting in the total symmetry group being a direct product of the SM and the new sector $G(SM) \times G(HS)$.

In the following we will assume that the latter two possibilities are relevant, since the embedding of the SM in a larger gauge sector requires an additional scale of symmetry breaking which itself poses a little hierarchy problem, as in [15] where additional parameter tuning is required. Furthermore, the additional symmetry is assumed to be global to avoid the need for anomaly cancellation at this point.

2.1 General conformal building rules

A fermion mass term is a chirality flip of the field. Therefore, we will have an incoming particle of one chirality, e.g. the left-handed neutrino ν_L and its antiparticle of opposite

chirality as an outgoing particle, which is right-handed. This particle can either be its own antiparticle with a Majorana mass or a distinct particle with a Dirac mass. The operators in the Lagrangian have dimension three and thus have to be augmented by a dimension one scalar field in order to fulfil the conformal requirements. Thus we assume the fermions only to couple via Yukawa couplings of the form

$$\overline{\psi_L}\psi_R\varphi$$
 and $\overline{\psi_R}\psi_L\varphi$, (2.1)

where the ψ are fermions and φ represents a scalar. Explicit mass terms are forbidden in the Lagrangian, i.e. any diagram like

with an explicit fermion mass term (cross) is forbidden. Yukawa couplings and mass terms which are generated via Yukawa and VEVs couplings like

$$y \overline{\psi_L} \psi_R v_{\varphi} \text{ and } y \overline{\psi_R} \psi_L v_{\varphi}.$$
 (2.2)

are allowed:



Each neutrino mass diagram needs an odd number of mass insertions. Note that we work within the flavour basis, i.e. we use fields that appear in the unbroken Lagrangian.

For the scalars conformal invariance only allows couplings which connect 4 scalars, i.e. diagrams of the form



These rules will be used throughout this work and will serve to derive rules with regard to specific neutrino mass questions.

2.2 The Weinberg operator case

We will argue that all neutrino mass diagrams, leading to a Majorana mass contribution for the active neutrinos, involve at least one vacuum expectation value other than the Higgs VEV and show that this is a topological necessity of conformally invariant theories including up to SU(2) triplet representations.

	S	D	T
S	$\varphi \overline{S}S$	$\overline{D} ilde{\phi}S$	$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\overline{T}\Delta S\right]$
D		$\overline{D}D^c \varphi \ , \ \overline{D} \Delta D^c$	$ ilde{\phi}^\dagger \overline{T} L$
T			$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\varphi\overline{T^{c}}T ight]$

Table 1. Possible dimension 4 Yukawa coupling terms. S, D and T denote singlet, doublet and triplet fermions respectively. φ , ϕ and Δ denote singlet, doublet and triplet scalars respectively. The totally antisymmetric coupling of three triplets $\bar{T}_1 T_2 \Delta$ is also allowed if two different fermion triplet fields are present.

To prove this we first note that any diagram has an even number of doublet scalar mass insertions. This is because all diagrams generating left-handed Majorana masses have the left-handed doublet as the incoming and the outgoing particle, i.e. we have to start and end up with a doublet. If we assume that the theory has only up to SU(2) triplet scalars and fermions, the only possibilities to connect two fermionic doublets are Yukawa couplings with a scalar triplet or singlet. Connecting a doublet fermion to a singlet fermion involves a doublet scalar. Equivalently a doublet and a triplet fermion are connected via a scalar doublet. Furthermore, two fermion singlets connect to a singlet scalar, two fermion triplets to a singlet scalar as well and a triplet and singlet fermion to a triplet scalar (see table 1).

Thus scalar doublets occur if and only if we connect a fermionic doublet to a fermionic non-doublet. Therefore, in order to start and end up with a fermion doublet we necessarily have an even number of scalar doublet mass insertions.

Secondly, note that in any theory including up to SU(2) triplets there are only potential couplings possible that involve an even number of SU(2) doublets. Thus, each doublet line will couple to an odd number of doublet lines. As the product of an even and an odd number is an even number, the number of doublet lines will remain even. Connecting some of these lines and producing a loop will not change this fact as this closing reduces the number of external doublet lines by an even number.

On the other hand two fundamental building rules for conformally invariant neutrino mass generation require that firstly there is always an odd number of mass insertions and secondly potential couplings always connect four lines. Both together yield that there has to be left an odd number of scalar external lines. Consequently as there has to be an odd number of VEVs but an even number of doublet VEVs, there has to be a singlet or a triplet VEV. Note, however, that this proof is based on the assumption that there are no fermion or gauge boson loops involved. This finding can be summarized as follows: If there are no gauge boson or fermion loops possible, a conformally invariant theory with up to SU(2) triplet scalars and fermions needs a singlet or triplet scalar vacuum expectation value to generate left-handed Majorana neutrino masses.

2.3 Radiative models

In this subsection we deal with the question if it is possible to choose the particle content and the VEV structure of a theory such that the lowest order contribution to the lefthanded Majorana masses is fully radiative i.e. there is no scalar with a VEV coupled to the neutrino line.

We assume that there are no fermion or gauge boson loops. In this case, if in the potential only terms appear which couple fields in singlet pairs neutrinos can not gain mass via loops. This is the case, as scalars connected to the fermion line can only be coupled in such a way that they either produce one scalar of the own kind and two of another or couple to a particle of the own kind coming from the fermion line and thus reducing the number of its species by an even number. So either the number of a species stays the same, reduces or increases by an even number. As there has to be an odd number of mass insertions to the fermion line it is thus impossible to combine all scalars connected to the fermion line in a loop without producing at least one external line that already couples to the fermion line.

An other way to understand this, is that for a loop induced active neutrino mass there has to be a lepton number violating term in the potential. Since the potential contains only four scalar operators, there has to be at least one among them with non pairwise coupled scalars. We can summarize this result: In a conformally invariant theory without fermion or gauge boson loops it is impossible to generate left-handed Majorana neutrino masses in a fully radiative way if the potential contains only terms coupling scalars in singlet pairs.

We present models, which have not only pairwise scalar combinations in the potential, and yield fully radiative left-handed neutrino masses in appendix B. We only discuss models, which can yield neutrino masses with non vanishing diagonal elements, as those are excluded experimentally, as argued in [41]. Furthermore, two possibilities to circumvent the above argument are presented, one is a model containing fermion loops. The other is the Ma model [42] with a Z_2 symmetry, which forbids the Dirac tree level coupling and violates lepton number with the sterile neutrino Yukawa term. However, we do not consider discrete symmetries in the main body of the articles and the only way to have a model with this topology is with a hidden sector symmetry. The requirement of electrically neutral VEVs makes this model only viable for generating loop induced masses for the sterile neutrinos. This possibility will be discussed later on.

3 Overview of viable models

In this section we will give a summary of models in which it is possible to have neutrino masses and radiative scale symmetry breaking (RSSB). The criteria for the generation of neutrino masses are presented in section 2. As we will see the RSSB works in the case that at least two additional bosonic degrees of freedom are present, of which at least one must be a scalar. This modifies the beta function of the mass parameter in such a way that a scalar component gets a VEV, which is then cascaded to the Higgs sector through the Higgs-scalar mixing as described in section 1. The symmetry breaking is consistently studied in the Gildener-Weinber approach [43], which relies on the existence of a flat direction in

the classical potential. Then the one loop effictive potential is computed. The minimal requirement of two bosonic degrees of freedom in the additional sector is crucial, since the RSSB relies on the bosonic degrees of freedom dominating over the top quark contributions.

The symmetry breaking has to be triggered by the hidden sector and the pseudoglodstone boson (PGB) associated with the scale symmetry breaking has to reside mainly in the hidden sector, see for example [31]. In the case of one additional bosonic degree of freedom, the Higgs boson is mainly the PGB which phenomenologically requires larger values of quartic couplings and leads to low scale Landau poles, see for example discussion in [9], which corresponds to model **3A** with only one real scalar field. It was demonstrated that RSSB is possible, but in our opinion the low scale Landau pole is problematic and we will take the model with two real scalars as the simplest realistic model.

We will demonstrate the RSSB in a case with two bosonic degrees of freedom in the HS. The scalar field content is given by the SU(2) doublet H and two real SM singlets Φ and S. The potential has the form

$$V(H, \Phi, S) = \frac{\lambda_H}{2} (H^{\dagger} H)^2 + \frac{\lambda_S}{2} S^4 + \frac{\lambda_\Phi}{2} \Phi^4 + \lambda_{HS} H^{\dagger} H S^2 + \lambda_{H\Phi} H^{\dagger} H \Phi^2 + \lambda_{S\Phi} \Phi^2 S^2.$$
(3.1)

For simplicity we will use spherical coordinates in field space with the replacements

$$H = r \sin \theta \sin \omega ,$$

$$S = r \sin \theta \cos \omega ,$$

$$\Phi = r \cos \theta .$$

We find with eq. 3.2 and the definitions $(\tan \theta)^2 =: \epsilon$ and $(\sin \omega)^2 =: \delta$ that

$$(r \cos \theta)^4 V(r, \theta \Phi) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda_{\Phi} + \epsilon (2 \,\delta \lambda_{H \Phi} + 2(1 - \delta) \lambda_{S \Phi} + \epsilon (\delta^2 \lambda_H + 2(1 - \delta) \,\delta \,\lambda_{HS} + (1 - \delta)^2 \,\lambda_S)) \right) = R(\Lambda) \,.$$
(3.2)

The vanishing of this quantity at the scale of symetry breaking $R(\Lambda_{RSSB}) = 0$ defines the classically flat direction in the potential, it is the renormalization condition.

Assuming that the mixing anomg the scalars is not large i.e. ϵ , $\delta < 1$ a hierarchical VEV structure appears

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi \rangle &= \langle r \rangle \, (1+\epsilon)^{-1/2} =: v \quad (3.3) \\ \langle S \rangle &= \langle r \rangle \, (1+\epsilon)^{-1/2} \sqrt{\epsilon} = v \sqrt{\epsilon} \\ \langle H \rangle &= \langle r \rangle \, (1+\epsilon)^{-1/2} \sqrt{\epsilon \delta} = v \sqrt{\epsilon \delta} \\ &\Rightarrow \langle \Phi \rangle > \langle S \rangle > \langle H \rangle \; . \end{split}$$

After the symmetry breaking the right handed neutrinos get their Majorana mass through Yukawa interactions with the HS scalars $M_{N_i} = Y_{N_i}/2v^2(1+\epsilon)$. The scalar spectrum contains two massive excitations and one which is mass-less on tree level and



Figure 1. The phenomenlogically allowed mass region in the simplest neutrino mass model with RSSB, a Higgs mass of 125 GeV, a higgs portal mixing compatible with the bound $\sin \theta < 0.37$, perturbative potential parameters and no low scale Landau pole. Here M_N is the mass of the heaviest right neutrino, M_{Φ} is the heavy scalar dominating the spectrum and M_S is the mass of the PGB.

corresponds to the flat direction in the potential. The idea behind the Gildener Weinberg approach is that the quantum effects are taken into account in the one loop correction to the mass of this particle, making it a PGB of broken scale symmetry. This procedure ensures perturbativity as discussed in detail in, [43]. The mass of the PGB is given by

$$M_S^2 = \frac{1}{8\pi^2 \langle r \rangle} \left(M_H^4 + 6m_W^4 + 3m_Z^4 + M_\Phi^4 - 12m_t^4 - 2\sum_i M_{N_i}^4 \right), \tag{3.4}$$

while the tree level scalar masses are (with $\lambda_{\Phi S} < 0$ and λ_{HS} , $\lambda_{\Phi S} > 0$ for explicitness)

$$M_H^2 = v^2 \left[(\delta - 1)(1 + 16\delta \epsilon) \lambda_{\Phi S} + \delta \epsilon (3\delta \lambda_H - (\delta - 1)\lambda_{HS}) \right] \delta^{-1}, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$M_{\Phi}^2 = -v^2 \left[(16(\delta - 1)\epsilon - 1)\lambda_{\Phi S} - \epsilon(\delta\lambda_{HS} - 3(\delta - 1)\lambda_S) \right].$$
(3.6)

As can be seen the PGB resides mainly in the HS and thus the mixing with the Higgs can be brought in agreement with the experimentally constrained Higgs-scalar mixing [36], while the potential parameters are perturbative and no low energy Landau pole appears. We plot the phenomenologically allowed mass regions in figure 1.

Next we study neutrino mass models with RSSB, which will be organized in the following way. Firstly we distinguish models with the SM model gauge group and secondly those where an additional hidden sector symmetry comprises with the SM symmetry group a direct product group. In the first case models are distinguished which affect the left handed neutrino mass directly (#**A**) and those with an additional singlet fermion state which contributes to the left neutrino masses, as known from the type I see-saw mechanism (#**B**). In the second scenario in all models there are additional SM singlet fermion states. We distinguish models with effect on the masses of the total singlets under the full gauge group ($\#\mathbf{C}$), denoted by ν_R and those where masses of fermions are affected, which carry a hidden sector charge ($\#\mathbf{D}$) and are denoted by ν_x . The Dirac type masses in our framework are always determined by Yukawa couplings y_D and the Higgs VEV, and assumed to exist if allowed by the symmetry. We comment on loop effects in models where those can lead to suppression of mass matrix entries. Furthermore, some comments on phenomenological implications will be made, but the main phenomenological discussion is omitted at this point and postponed to section 4. All models carry an identification number and are described in detail in appendix A.

At first we focus on the models where the SM field content is extended. Assuming that we have singlet, doublet and triplet fermionic and scalar SU(2) representations we list all combinations systematically and check whether a conformal neutrino mass model can be constructed, see table 2. Assuming only the above mentioned representations the presented list is complete. The models share features with the non-conformal analogues, nevertheless the scalar sector is in all cases enlarged to make the graph construction topologically possible without explicit mass insertions. Furthermore, the mass scales are all around the TeV scale, since the general spirit of the radiatively broken scale invariance forbids large scale separation.

We again present a full catalogue of models with a $U(1)_{hidden}$, given that we only involve up to the triplet representation of the $SU(2)_L$ group, see table 3. This model sector could be enlarged by regarding more complex Hidden groups, but due to our little knowledge of the dark sector we stick here to the minimality condition. As a result we find a variety of tree level and radiative models with possible textures in the neutrino mass matrix. As one of the most promising models we point out **1D** and **2D**, which lead to an inverse see-saw (ISS) mass matrix structure which implies seizable active sterile mixing, discussed in [44, 45]. The active-sterile mixing and the light masses are given by

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2} m_D^{\dagger} (M_{Rx}^{-1})^* (M_{Rx}^{-1})^T m_D \approx \frac{y_D^2}{y_M^2} \frac{v^2}{\text{TeV}^2},$$

$$m_\nu = m_D^T (M_{Rx}^{-1})^T \mu M_{Rx}^{-1} m_D \approx \mu \,\epsilon.$$
(3.7)

The M_{Rx} scale is of the order of one to few TeV and the μ scale is loop induced in 2D and suppressed by heavier scales in 1D, which brings it to the keV scale. The Yukawa couplings in this region can be close to one, which makes it an attractive alternative to the fine tuned solutions. The effects of the active-sterile mixing can lead to an improved χ^2 for the Electro-weak precision observables, as shown in [46] and we will comment on it in the next section.

In general the requirement of no scalar scale hierarchy restricts the vacuum expectation values of the new scalars not to be higher than the TeV scale. This leads with Yukawa couplings in the perturbative region to a particle spectrum below the TeV scale. However, this is not a necessity in all models. For instance if several additional scalar VEVs induce a cascade where the heaviest field begins with the symmetry breaking and transfers the scale by a portal to the next which in turn cascades down to the third scale, the scale separation can become larger without large tuning of the couplings, this can lift up the spectrum to a few TeV, as can be the case in the conformal inverse see-saw.

In several models, see table 2 and 3, the Majorana contribution to the light neutrino mass is suppressed and therefore an other neutrino mass scenario appears, in that case the active neutrinos are almost mass degenerate with the sterile components comprising pseudo Dirac pairs. This possibility is experimentally extremely challenging, but might be accessible in long baseline and low energy oscillation experiments [47].

In general scale separation does not appear naturally in models with RSSB, thus the neutrino mass scale can appear if the Yukawa couplings are arranged in a way leading to a see-saw suppression. The other possibility is that the lightness is connected to a small lepton number violation parameter. This smallness can be argued to be natural in t'Hoft sense, as the symmetry of the theory would increase if this parameter would be exactly zero. Furthermore, in radiative neutrino mass models the smallness of the lepton number violation is augmented by a mass suppression by the loop factors. The most interesting possibility is, however, if both of this mechanisms are at work. This is the case if the Majorana scale is induced by a loop involving a lepton number violating coupling, leading to the Pseudo Dirac and Inverse see-saw scenarios. Where in the last scenario the Yukawa couplings can be of order one.

4 Phenomenology

In this section we will check which of the proposed models can indeed reproduce the correct neutrino mass phenomenology i.e. the mass square differences and the correct mixing angles and at the same time be consistent with rare decay experiments and electroweak precision observables (EWPO). In a plot we will demonstrate viable regions of the allowed parameter space and estimate expected signals for future lepton flavour and number violation experiments.

In most of the discussed models the PMNS matrix becomes not exactly unitary. This happens if the active-sterile mixing is considerable and induces a number of effects on physical quantities as the Weinberg angle, the W-boson mass, the left and right handed couplings g_L , g_R , the leptonic and invisible Z-boson decay width and the neutrino oscillation probabilities, for more detailed discussion and limits see [48] and references therein. Thus studying the non unitarity allows to narrow down the parameter space of a given model. However, some effects are not captured by this treatment only. Those are processes where explicit particle propagation is responsible for the new physics signal. To get an order of magnitude estimate we integrate out heavier degrees of freedom to obtain an effective scenario with a $(3 + n) \times (3 + n)$ nearly unitary mixing matrix **U**.

$$\mathbf{U} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{U} \ \mathscr{R} \\ \mathscr{W} \ \mathscr{V} \end{pmatrix} . \tag{4.1}$$

ological note
not yield neutrino sses.
his theory are of c type.
e of the coupling eory can yield Sub -Dirac neutrinos.
ls pure left-handed a neutrinos.
ls pure left-handed utrinos as well.
l Pseudo-Dirac are possible.
main massless.
_ only contributes to the masses.
main massless.
vields the same menology like the ee-saw type I.
nded Majorana s suppressed by 2 ops.
aded Majorana s suppressed by 1 oop.
ided Majorana

Conformal	Mass	Models	within	the	\mathbf{SM}	Gauge	Groun
Comormai	mass	Models	WIGHT	une	DIVI	Gauge	Group

neutrino

masses

non-conformal

motivation

#

particle content

correct

Higgs

mass

phenomen

	Left-Handed Majorana Masses					
1A	Conformal SM (CSM)	/	No	No	This theory does not yield neutrino masses.	
2A	$\mathrm{CSM} + \nu_R : (1,0)$	See-saw type I	Yes	No	Neutrinos in this theory are of Dirac type.	
3A	$CSM + \nu_R : (1,0) + \varphi : (1,0)$	See-saw type I	Yes	Yes	In dependence of the coupling constants this theory can yield Sub TeV or Pseudo-Dirac neutrinos.	
4A	$\mathrm{CSM} + \Delta : (3, -2)$	See-saw type II	Yes	No	This theory yields pure left-handed Majorana neutrinos.	
5A	$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{CSM} + \Delta : (3, -2) \\ + \varphi : (1, 0) \end{aligned}$	See-saw type II	Yes	Yes	This theory yields pure left-handed Majorana neutrinos as well.	
6A	$CSM + \nu_R : (1,0) + \varphi : (1,0) + \Delta : (3,-2)$	See-saw type I/II	Yes	Yes	Sub TeV and Pseudo-Dirac neutrinos are possible.	
7A	$\mathrm{CSM} + \delta_{-} : (1, -2)$	/	No	No	Neutrinos remain massless.	
8A	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm CSM} + \delta_{-} : (1,-2) \\ + \Delta : (3,-2) \end{array}$	/	Yes	No	The additional δ_{-} only contributes corrections to the masses.	
9A	$\mathrm{CSM} + \Sigma : (3,0)$	See-saw type III	No	No	Neutrinos remain massless.	
10A	$\begin{array}{l} \mathrm{CSM} + \Sigma : (3,0) + \\ \varphi : (1,0) \end{array}$	See-saw type III	Yes	Yes	This theory yields the same neutrino phenomenology like the conformal See-saw type I.	
11A	$CSM + \delta_{-} : (1, -2) + \epsilon_{++} : (1, 4) + \varphi : (1, 0)$	Zee-Babu	Yes	Yes	Pure left-handed Majorana neutrino masses suppressed by 2 loops.	
12A	$CSM + H_2 : (2,1) + \eta_+ : (1,2) + \varphi : (1,0)$	Zee Model	Yes	Yes	Pure left-handed Majorana neutrino masses suppressed by 1 loop.	
13A	$CSM + \phi_1 : (2,3) H_2 : (2,1) \eta : (1,-4); \phi_2 : (1,0)$	Law-McDonald	Yes	Yes	Pure left-handed Majorana neutrino masses suppressed by 2 loops.	
		Right-Hand	ed Major	ana Masses		
1D	$CSM + \nu_R : (1,0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (2,0) + A_n (2,0)$	/	V	V	This theory can generate	

	Tught-Handed Wajorana Wasses				
1B	$ \begin{array}{l} \text{CSM} + \nu_R : (1,0) + \\ \Sigma : (3,0) + \Delta : (3,0) \\ + \varphi : (1,0) \end{array} $	/	Yes	Yes	This theory can generate conditions for the Pseudo-Dirac and the Sub TeV see-saw.
2B	$\begin{array}{l} {\rm CSM} + \nu_R : (1,0) + \\ \nu_x : (1,0) + \\ \varphi : (1,0) \end{array}$	/	Yes	Yes	The extension by further sterile neutrinos is trivial if they cannot be distinguished from the original sterile neutrinos.

Table 2. Summary of different conformally invariant models for the generation of neutrino masses within the SM gauge group. The Lorentz nature of the fields is the following: ν_R , Σ are fermions and ϕ , δ , ϵ , Δ are scalars. It is always mentioned if there is a non conformal motivation to the particular model. Furthermore, short comments on the phenomenology are displayed. All models carry a number for later reference.

Note that in the case of model **3A** with one real singlet scalar RSSB is possible, however the theory has a low scale Landau pole. Thus, we consider the model to be only phenomenologically viable if at least two real scalars are present, as discussed in section 3.

				() =			
#	particle content	$\mathrm{U}(1)_H$	VEV structure	phenomenological note			
	ν_R Majorana Masses						
	$ u_R:(1,0)$	0		The double see-saw mass structure is implied.			
1C	$ u_x:(1,0)$	1	all scalars get a VEV	Pseudo-Dirac and			
	$\varphi_1:(1,0)$	1		sub TeV scenarios			
	$\varphi_2:(1,0)$	2		are possible .			
	$\nu_R:(1,0)$	0		The minimal extended see-saw structure is implied.			
2C	$ \nu_x : (1, 0) $	2	all scalars get a VEV	Light sterile neutrinos			
	$\varphi_1:(1,0)$	0		with large			
	$\varphi_2:(1,0)$	-2		active-sterile mixing .			
3C	theory $1C +$	theory 1C	φ_1 gets no VEV	radiative model,			
	$\varphi_3:(1,0)$	-4		implies Pseudo-Dirac scenario			
	$\nu_R:(1,0)$	0					
	$\Sigma:(3,0)$	1		Pseudo-Dirac and sub TeV			
$4\mathrm{C}$	$\Delta:(3,0)$	1	all scalars get a VEV	scenarios			
	$\varphi_1:(1,0)$	1		are possible.			
	$\varphi_2:(1,0)$	2					
$5\mathrm{C}$	theory $3C +$	theory 3C	φ_1 gets no VEV	radiative model,			
	$\varphi_3:(1,0)$	-4		implies Pseudo-Dirac scenario			
		ν_x	Majorana Masses				
	$ u_R : (1, 0) $	0					
	$\nu_x:(1,0)$	1					
1D	$\Sigma:(3,0)$	-2	all scalars get a VEV	generates small ν_x mass,			
	$\Delta:(3,0)$	-3		implies the inverse see-saw scenario			
	$\varphi_1:(1,0)$	-3					
	$\varphi_2:(1,0)$	-4					
	$\varphi_4:(1,0)$	1					
2D	theory 1D $+$	theory 1D	φ_1 gets no VEV	radiative model,			
	$arphi_3:(1,0)$	10		implies the inverse see-saw scenario			

Conformal Mass Models with Additional U(1) Symmetry

Table 3. Summary of different conformally invariant models for the generation of neutrino masses with an additional HS symmetry. The Lorentz nature of the fields is the following: ν_R , ν_x , Σ are fermions and ϕ_i for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ are scalars. All hidden sector charges are shown in the third column and the VEV structure is summarized in the fourth column. Furthermore, short comments on the phenomenology are displayed. All models carry a number for later reference.

This corresponds to a scenario with three active and n sterile neutrinos. Here \mathscr{R} can be considered as the active-sterile mixing. \mathscr{U} is the PMNS matrix and is not unitary any more. A measure for non-unitarity of the PMNS matrix is given by

$$\epsilon_{\alpha} \equiv \sum_{i \ge 4} |\mathbf{U}_{\alpha i}|^2 \,. \tag{4.2}$$

This matrix diagonalizes the following mass matrix

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} m_L & m_D \\ m_D^T & M_R \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.3}$$

Thus, the active and sterile neutrinos have a Majorana mass and mix due to the Dirac mass terms. This set up covers all the effects on neutrino physics of a given model. The Majorana mass nature opens the possibility for lepton number violation and neutrino-less double beta decay. The propagating sterile states lift the GIM suppression in the lepton flavour violating processes for the charged leptons and different non-unitraity parameters ϵ_{α} in eq. 4.2 parametrise deviation from lepton universality. Furthermore, in this set up we can get estimates on the oblique corrections [49]. As shown in [46] they can contribute significantly to EWPOs especially given large non-unitarity and heavy sterile neutrinos.

The mass terms in the effective theory after integrating out heavier degrees of freedom have the following form.

$$-\mathscr{L}_{m} = \frac{1}{2}m_{L,ij}^{*}\bar{\nu}_{L,i}^{c}\nu_{L,j} + m_{D,ij}^{*}\bar{\nu}_{L,i}\nu_{R,j} + \frac{1}{2}M_{R,ij}^{*}\bar{\nu}_{R,i}^{c}\nu_{R,j} + h.c., \qquad (4.4)$$

where $m_{D,ij}^* = g_{H,ij} \cdot v_H$ and $M_{R,ij}^* = g_{\varphi,ij} \cdot v_{\varphi}$. While direct masses for the left handed neutrinos are generated due to a scalar or fermionic triplet. $m_{L,ij}^* = g_{L,ij}^a \cdot v_\Delta + (g_{\Sigma ij} + g_{\Delta ij}^b) \cdot v_H^2 / v_{\phi}$. The scalar triplet contributes a dimension four operator, both triplets generate terms proportional to the squared Higgs VEV, the fermionic triplet a dimension fife operator and the scalar triplet a dimension six operator. The *g* parameters are effective Yukawa couplings which can contain corrections from heavier particles integrated out of the theory. Thus depending on the theory in question the perturbativity condition is not to be taken as a strict bound.

Scanning over the effective Yukawa coupling space provides us with sets of viable solutions according to the above criteria. To visualize the solutions we set up a two dimensional map with the horizontal axis for the averaged right handed mass scale and the vertical axis for the averaged Dirac couplings. The average represents the order of magnitude of the Yukawas in the case they are in the same ball park, if they are spread apart the average is dominated by the largest. The spread over several orders of magnitude, however, is not considered as it would require unnaturally large tuning. The results of our study are presented in figure 4. We would like to discuss four phenomenological scenarios separately.

4.1 Pure left handed Majorana mass

In the case that the Dirac coupling is very small, or there are no fermionic singlets under the SM gauge group included in the theory, the only possible neutrino mass term is the left handed Majorana mass. In this scenario the charged lepton flavour violation is strongly GIM suppressed and beyond experimental precision. The PMNS mixing matrix is unitary and therefore the most promising signals are expected in the $0\nu\beta\beta$ experiments. The total mass scale enters the effective electron neutrino mass, since it is entirely Majorana. For a detailed study if the $0\nu\beta\beta$ sensitivity depending of the hierarchy see [50] and references therein. The current experimental bound on the electron neutrino effective mass, the parameter controlling the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, is $\langle m_{ee}\rangle < 0.4 \,\mathrm{eV}$ [51].

The models leading to a pure left handed Majorana mass are in our set up **11A**, **12A** and **13A** here the neutrino masses are suppressed by one or two loops.

4.2 Pseudo Dirac scenario

The other distinct region with only light neutrinos is around the point in the parameter space where the active and sterile neutrinos form mass degenerate pairs of Dirac fermions. This point has no lepton number violation and an effective GIM suppression of the charged lepton flavour violating process. Now the pairs can acquire a small Majorana mass, either through contributions of light sterile neutrinos or a small m_L mass.

This leads to a mass splitting among the degenerate Majorana pairs forming the effective Dirac neutrino states. Phenomenologically this is consistent with observations as long as this splitting is smaller than the experimental accuracy of the mass square difference measurement. For detailed bounds consult [52]. It turns out that the strongest constraints apply to the splitting of the first and second mass state and are of the order of 10^{-9} eV, while in the third mass state, with the dominant tau flavour, the splitting can be up to 10^{-3} eV. Since the right-handed neutrinos are light in this scenario, the PMNS matrix is unitary and there are no phenomenological bounds from EWPOs, lepton universality or lepton flavour violation.

The origin of the mass splitting is not important for oscillation experiments, when it comes to lepton flavour violation, however, there is an interesting subtlety. Consider the two cases in the one flavour scenario, where in the first case the Majorana mass appears on tree level for the active neutrino and in the second case for the sterile component

$$\mathcal{M}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \mu & m_D \\ m_D & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \mathcal{M}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D \\ m_D & \mu \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.5)

In the limit $\mu \ll m_D$ the mass eigenvalues are given in both cases as $m_{\pm} = \pm m_D + \mu/2$ and the diagonalizing mixing matrices are

$$U_{1/2} \approx \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \pm \epsilon & -1 + \epsilon \\ 1 \mp \epsilon & 1 + \epsilon \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } \epsilon = \frac{\mu}{4m_D}.$$
(4.6)

We consider now the expansion of the effective mass for the neutroless double beta decay in powers of the momentum transfer. The effective mass is approximately given by $\langle m_{ee} \rangle \approx |q^2 \sum_i \mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 m_i / (q^2 - m_i^2)|$, the relation holds that $m_i^2 \ll |q^2| \approx (0.1 \,\text{GeV})^2$ and we can expand

$$\langle m_{ee} \rangle \approx \left| \sum_{i} U_{ei}^2 m_i + 1/q^2 \sum_{i} U_{ei}^2 m_i^3 + O(1/q^4) \right|.$$
 (4.7)

Inserting the parameters we find that in the case where the active neutrino has a direct Majorana mass the effect is of order [50],

$$\langle m_{ee\,1} \rangle \approx \mu \approx (m_+^2 - m_-^2)/(2\,m_D)\,.$$
 (4.8)

In the case where the Majorana mass appears via the sterile component, the first order contribution vanishes, as the electron neutrino entry of the neutrino mass matrix is zero and one has to leading order

$$\langle m_{ee\,2} \rangle \approx m_D \, (m_+^2 - m_-^2) / (2 \, q^2) \approx \mu \, m_D^2 / q^2 \,,$$
(4.9)

since m_D is of the order of the absolute neutrino mass scale the effective mass is suppressed by the factor $(m_D/q)^2$ with respect to eq. 4.8 which is at least 14 orders of magnitude. Thus there is an interesting experimental possibility to distinguish these scenarios. Assume, neutrino oscillation experiments on cosmic scales detect a small mass splitting testing oscillations on cosmic length scales as described in [47]. If this splitting is in the phenomenologically allowed region today, the contribution to the effective mass for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay can be up to a few 10^{-5} eV, as displayed in figure 4 in the zoomed in region. This is only the case, if the mass splitting originates from a direct active neutrino Majorana mass, in the second case it would be of the order 10^{-17} eV and beyond experimental reach. Thus, measuring the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay provides evidence of scenario one and placing a limit smaller than the predicted value shows that scenario two is realized. Even though the possibility is interesting from the theoretical perspective, it is extremely challenging experimentally, since the maximal expected decay rate is four orders of magnitude below the current sensitivity.

Among the presented models the pseudo Dirac scenario can be realized in **3A**, **6A** with a direct active neutrino Majorana mass and in 1B and possibly in all the (#**C**) models with a sterile neutrino Majorana mass, leading to no observable $0\nu\beta\beta$ decays. The Yukawa couplings in the Majorana and Dirac sector have to be tiny, in fact below 10^{-12} , but there is no hard theoretical argument which could exclude this possibility a priori.

4.3 Sub-TeV Yukawa see-saw

In several models where the right handed Majorana couplings are not loop or scale suppressed the right handed Majorana mass is below one TeV. Viable solutions lie in a triangular shaped region for Majorana couplings smaller than one. In this parameter region the contributions to m_L are subdominant and thus the averaged effective Yukawa couplings represent the sterile Majorana mass on the x-axis and the Dirac mass on the y-axis respectively. For the scan the Casas-Ibarra parametrisation [53] was used, which parametrizes the



Figure 2. The lepton number violating decay as a collider signature for the Sub-TeV and multi TeV see-saw with a heavy Majorana Neutrino decay.

active sterile-mixing as $R = -iD_{\sqrt{m_{\nu}}}\mathcal{O}^*D_{\sqrt{M_R}}U_{\text{PMNS}}$ with $\mathcal{O}^T\mathcal{O} = 1$. Thus the physical effects connected to non-unitarity are controlled by the norm of \mathcal{O} .

The shape of the Sub-TeV see-saw region is explained as follows. The see-saw relation $(m_D^2/M_R \approx m_\nu = 0.1 \,\mathrm{eV})$ and $M_R > m_D$ sets the lowest value for m_D given a M_R , which is $m_D > \sqrt{m_{\nu} M_R}$. This sets the lower boundary of this region and is represented by a black dotted diagonal line of gradient two in the log plot in figure 4. Deviations to higher Dirac couplings induce a larger active-sterile mixing and thus larger non-unitarity. The unitarity bounds constrain the region to the left and are represented by a brown line, for nonunitarity of one percent. Since deviation from unitarity is proportional to m_D/M_R the line has gradient one in the log plot. However, those turn out to be not the strongest constraints. The most stringent bounds come from neutrino-less double beta decay, displayed as a red line. In the region of interest the dominant contribution to the electron neutrino effective mass for $0\nu\beta\beta$ is given by $\langle m_{ee}\rangle \approx |\sum_{i>4} \mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 \,\mathrm{GeV}^2/M_i|$. The predicted effective electron neutrino mass violates the observational bound if the right handed neutrinos become too light. The constraints from rare lepton flavour violating decays and lepton universality are somewhat weaker. The EWPOs in this parameter region are consistent with their measured values. To this end the χ^2 function as in [46] has been calculated and loop effects of the right handed neutrinos included, the resulting χ^2 values do not differ significantly from the SM values.

The main characteristics of this scenario is lepton number violation, since the Majorana mass of the sterile neutrino is not suppressed. Besides the rare decay processes, lepton number violation can lead to beyond SM processes at colliders in decays of the heavy Majorana neutrinos, see figure 2. The production cross section for this process, is proportional to $|\sum_i \mathbf{U}_{\alpha i}^2 M_i^{-1}|$ [54] and has basically zero SM background.

It is interesting to discuss the values of the Yukawa couplings in this region. Since in our models of spontaneous broken scale invariance all the masses are a result of a VEV coupled with a Yukawa term, the see-saw relation is induced entirely by the Yukawa coupling structure. While for the Majorana coupling the region of the Sub-TeV see-saw implies in the presented models couplings between 10^{-3} and one, the Dirac Yukawa couplings vary between 10^{-7} and 10^{-4} . This values might be considered small and fine-tuned, however we

have to stress here that in that case the electron Yukawa coupling, which is of order 10^{-6} is suspicious as well. In the models discussed above this scenario is realized in **3A**, **6A**, **10A**, **1B**, **1C** and **4C**.

4.4 Inverse Yukawa see-saw

The most interesting scenario from the theoretical point of view in the context of RSSB is the inverse see-saw, introduced in [44, 45]. It naturally occurs in models **D1** and **D2**, where the mass matrix has the following texture and the scale μ is loop or scale suppressed

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D & 0 \\ m_D^T & 0 & M_{Rx} \\ 0 & M_{Rx}^T & \mu \end{pmatrix} .$$
(4.10)

The spectrum of this models contains Pseudo Dirac pairs of heavy neutrinos, with masses of order M_{Rx} and their mass splitting μ determines the amount of lepton number violation present. At the same time it is the parameter, which controls the smallness of the active neutrino masses. As given by eq. 3.7 the active sterile mixing is determined by the ratio m_D^2/M_{Rx}^2 and the general spirit of RSSB together with no tuning in the Yukawa couplings suggests seizable values. Seizable mixing is only compatible with small active masses if a cancellation mechanism is at work. It can be seen in the Casas-Ibarra parametrization, we choose the two flavour case with $U_{\rm PMNS} = 1$ for simplicity here. The orthogonal complex matrix $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$ is in this case a simple 2 × 2 rotation matrix with the complex angle $\theta = a + ib$. In the limit $a \ll 1$ and $1 \ll b$ we have

$$\mathcal{O}(\theta) \approx \begin{pmatrix} \cosh(b) & -i\sinh(b) \\ i\sinh(b) & \cosh(b) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.11)

As shown in [55], this leads in the limit of $m_{\nu} \to 0$ and with $\sinh(b) \approx \cosh(b) \approx e^b$, $e^b \sqrt{m_1} \to \sqrt{\mu}, \ e^b \sqrt{m_2} \to \alpha \sqrt{\mu}$ to an

$$m_D \approx \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu M_1} & -i\sqrt{\mu M_2} \\ i\sqrt{\mu M_1}\alpha & \sqrt{\mu M_2}\alpha \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.12)

Which in the limiting case has rank 1 and thus induces massless active neutrinos. This shows that the orthogonal matrix with dominating imaginary arguments is a good effective description of the ISS.

Using this fact we study experimental constraints on this scenario. At first we consider the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, which placed the most severe bounds on the Sub-TeV scenario. The general expression useful to consider in this case is [45] $\langle m_{ee} \rangle \approx |q^2 \sum_i \mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 m_i/(q^2 - m_i^2)|$. Which now can be studied in three cases, depending on the ratio of q^2/M_{Rx}^2 , where the neutrino momentum is $|q| \approx 0.1$ GeV. If we have $M_{Rx} \gg 0.1$ GeV and using the facts that for i > 3, $\mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 \approx m_D^2/M_{Rx}^2$ and $\mu m_D^2/M_{Rx}^2 \approx m_\nu$ the following approximation holds

$$\langle m_{ee} \rangle \approx \left| \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathbf{U}_{ei}^{2} m_{i} - \frac{q^{2}}{2} \sum_{i>3} \mathbf{U}_{ei}^{2} \frac{\mu}{m_{i}^{2}} \right|$$

$$\approx \left| \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathbf{U}_{ei}^{2} m_{i} - m_{\nu} \frac{q^{2}}{M_{Rx}^{2}} \right| \approx \left| \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathbf{U}_{ei}^{2} m_{i} \right|.$$

$$(4.13)$$

Which means that the rate is purely given by the light neutrino spectrum with well known phenomenology.

The other limit is $M_{Rx} \ll 0.1 \,\text{GeV}$, leading to $\langle m_{ee} \rangle \approx |\sum_i (\mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 m_i + 1/q^2 \mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 m_i^3)| = \mathcal{M}_{ee} + O(\mu m_D^2/q^2)$. This situation is similar to the discussed Pseudo Dirac scenario with light neutrinos and the lowest order contribution is $\mu m_D^2/q^2 < \mu M_{Rx}^2/q^2$, which in this limit is negligible.

The only case when the heavy Pseudo Dirac states can measurably contribute to the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is when $M_{Rx} \approx 0.1$ GeV. Then we have

$$\langle m_{ee} \rangle \approx \left| \begin{array}{c} m_{ee}^{\text{light}} + \sum_{i>3} \mathbf{U}_{ei}^2 \,\mu \left(1 + \frac{m_i^2}{|q^2|} \right)^{-1} \\ \approx \left| \begin{array}{c} m_{ee}^{\text{light}} + \sum_{i>3} m_{\nu} \,\left(1 + \frac{m_i^2}{|q^2|} \right)^{-1} \end{array} \right|, \tag{4.14}$$

which is of the order of the light neutrino contributions. Thus, we see that neutrinoless double beta decay does not provide strong bounds in the ISS scenario, since the lepton number violation is suppressed as the scale μ .

This is not the case for the Lepton flavour violating processes. The best constrained value is the branching ratio $Br(\mu \rightarrow e + \gamma)$, where the limit is placed by the MEG collaboration [56] and is $5, 7 \cdot 10^{-13}$. The neutral fermion contribution to this loop induced decay is

$$\operatorname{Br}(\mu \to e + \gamma) = \frac{3\alpha_{\rm em}}{32\pi} \left| \sum_{i} \mathbf{U}_{\mu i}^* \mathbf{U}_{ei} G\left(\frac{m_i^2}{M_W^2}\right) \right|^2, \qquad (4.15)$$

where in the loop function G(x) the masses appear squared and the cancellation leading to a vanishing $0\nu\beta\beta$ process can not work. We find that the MEG bound together with the non-unitarity constraints [48] lead to the most severe constraints on this models, as shown in figure 4.

As stated before the ISS opens the possibility in the RSSB framework to have states above the TeV scale. The region of right handed masses between one and a few ten TeV is divided in two subregions, which are distinguished by the value of the active-sterile mixing. If this value is sizeable, in fact above 10^{-6} , the phenomenology is considerably affected. The most sensitive observables are the Z boson invisible decay width and the Muon decay constant, which is used to determine the Fermi constant. The observables dependence on the non unitarity parameters, see eq. 4.2 is given by

$$\frac{\Gamma_Z^{\text{inv}}}{[\Gamma_Z^{\text{inv}}]_{\text{SM}}} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{\alpha} (1 - \epsilon_{\alpha})^2 \,, \tag{4.16}$$

$$G_{\mu} = G_F(1 - \epsilon_e)(1 - \epsilon_{\mu}). \qquad (4.17)$$

This region of seizable active sterile mixing with heavy particles is of particular interest, since here the oblique corrections can become large. So, on the one hand the χ^2 with the EWPOs provides us with phenomenological bounds in this region. On the other hand this is an example of a theory where contributions from heavy sterile neutrinos can improve the electroweak fit, as discussed in [46]. In figure 4 the region with an improved χ^2 is bound towards lower mass values by experimental constraints from the $\mu \rightarrow e + \gamma$ decay and towards higher masses the radiative corrections become incompatible with observations in case of large active-sterile mixing.

Having discussed constraints on the right handed mass, it is interesting to study which Dirac mass scales are allowed. The mass scale of the light neutrinos is set by the following scale relation $m_{\nu} \approx \mu m_D^2/M_{Rx}^2$, furthermore it is required that $\mu/M_{Rx} =: \delta \ll 1$ and $m_D < M_{Rx}$. Those relations imply that $m_D > \sqrt{m_{\nu}M_{Rx}/\delta}$. Given a right handed mass scale, the minimal Dirac mass is larger than in the usual see-saw scenario, which implies that the active-sterile mixing has to be larger as well.

The most promising signature to distinguish the heavy Pseudo Dirac neutrino from the ISS scenario from a heavy Majorana neutrino is a direct test at a collider, which is feasible as all the particles involved are around the TeV scale. The difference lies in the dominant decay channel of the right handed neutrinos. While in the Majorana see-saw the lepton number violation is unsuppressed generically, the dominant process is expected to be the lepton number violating decay in figure 2. In the case of a decay of a heavy Pseudo Dirac neutrino, lepton number violation is suppressed by the smallness of the right handed Majorana scale μ [55], thus the dominant processes are lepton number conserving decays. As argued in [57, 58], the opposite sign dilepton decay has a very large SM background and thus the relevant channel becomes the trilepton decay with missing energy, see figure 3. As shown by Das et al. the inclusive cross section of the trilepton final state is controlled by the branching ratio of the heavy neutrino in the W boson and a lepton, it has the partial decay width

$$\Gamma(N \to \ell_{\alpha} W) = \frac{g^2 \epsilon_{\alpha}}{64\pi} \frac{m_i^3}{M_W^2} \left(1 - \frac{M_W^2}{m_i^2}\right)^2 \left(1 + 2\frac{M_W^2}{m_i^2}\right).$$
(4.18)

As shown by eq. 4.18, the decay width crucially depends on the non-unitarity parameter ϵ_{α} . The interesting feature of the ISS in the RSSB framework is, that the requirement of no large scale separation results in naturally large active-sterile mixing, as $\epsilon \approx m_D^2/M_{Rx}^2$. Thus the most natural value for ϵ , given an order of magnitude between the scales and Yukawa couplings of order one is about one percent, close to the sensitivity threshold of modern experiments. Note that the recently proposed production mechanism for heavy sterile neutrinos via t-channel processes can further increase the collider sensitivity, as argued in [59].



Figure 3. The dominant collider signature for the ISS scenario with the trilepton plus missing energy signature.

4.5 Decoupled hidden sector

The discussion of RSSB led us to the finding that generically all scalar scales are close to the TeV scale if no finetuning in the potential is involved. The most natural mechanism to generate the neutrino mass scale, far below was the connection to lepton number violation and thus models seem favourable where this scale is suppressed. We found the most natural model to be the ISS, in this scenario the Majorana scale is generically at the order of keV. We would like to point out that the connection to the dark matter sector in this context seems very promising by considering two set-ups.

Suppose a scenario in which the Hidden sector contains a SM singlet fermion ν_x with the dark U(1) charge 1 and a SM scalar singlet ϕ_D with a dark charge 2 which gets a VEV and thus via the term $\phi_D \bar{\nu}_x \nu_x^c$ generates a mass between the EW and the TeV scale for the fermion. This particle is stable but also almost decoupled from the SM, since the Higgs portal coupling to ϕ_D is so far the only allowed interaction channel and it is constrained to be small by experiment. Therefore, it is a decoupled sterile neutrino. It is however possible to switch on a fermionic portal of the form $\bar{\nu}_x \eta \ell_R$, as discussed in [60–63] and in a scale invariant context in [64]. Here ℓ_R is a right handed lepton, which is a phenomenologically allowed interaction. The η is an electrically charged scalar mediator which has to be of a similar mass due to the requirement of no scalar mass hierarchies. This interaction can lead with the appropriate parameter choice to the production of ν_x in the early universe with the correct abundance to be a cold dark matter candidate via the lepton portal interaction, as discussed in the literature. This class of models has a rich phenomenology including gamma ray signals which can be peaked and serve as a good DM detection signature [63]. The detailed discussion, however, goes beyond the scope of this work. The intriguing insight is, that the requirement of no scalar mass hierarchy leads automatically to the region of typical WIMP masses.

In the second scenario the ISS, as in **1D** and **2D** with an additional fermionic state ν_x in the hidden sector, with the charges (1, 0, 1) in $(SU(2), U(1)_Y, U(1)_{Hidden})$ is considered. It is thus a 3 active and 3+3+1 sterile scenario. The mass matrix after eliminating unphysical

phases has the structure

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D^{3\times3} & 0 & 0 \\ m_D^T & 0 & M_{Rx}^{3\times3} & A^{3\times1} \\ 0 & M_{Rx}^T & \mu_1^{3\times3} & 0 \\ 0 & A^T & 0 & \mu_2 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(4.19)

The spectrum would be given by three Pseudo Dirac neutrinos of the scale M_{Rx} . The light neutrino mass is given by eq. 3.7 and with $A \approx M_{Rx}$, which is natural given order one Yukawas, the additional sterile state has a mass of μ and a small mixing with the active neutrinos of the order μ^2/M_{Rx}^2 . The remarkable feature is that the scale $\mu \approx \text{keV}$ required by the see-saw relation is also the correct scale for this state to be a Dark Matter candidate [65, 66].

We find that incorporating the neutrino mass generation in the RSSB framework naturally provides us with two scales of DM candidates, those are the TeV scale suitable for a cold Dark Matter particle and the keV scale leading to warm Dark Matter.

5 Conclusion

We studied in this paper consequences of conformal electro-weak symmetry breaking models for neutrino masses. Many phenomenologically viable models contain extra scalars which undergo dimensional transmutation. The VEV of this scalar triggers then via the Higgs portal electro-weak symmetry breaking. This over-all picture has interesting consequences for neutrino masses. First, no explicit Dirac or Majorana mass terms are allowed, since they would violate conformal symmetry explicitly. All fermion masses must therefore arise as some Yukawa coupling times the VEV of some scalar. The second generic feature is that Coleman-Weinberg type symmetry breaking leads to a loop-generated symmetry breaking effective potential where the Higgs mass (curvature of the minimum) is loop suppressed compared to the VEV. This can be seen in the Standard Model, where Coleman-Weinberg symmetry breaking leads to a Higgs mass of about 9 GeV, which is excluded. This explains also why the scale which is generated by the extra scalar should be in the TeV range in order to match the EW scale. This implies finally that all neutrino masses come from Dirac and Majorana Yukawa couplings which are multiplied either with the EW scale or with the TeV-ish symmetry breaking scale of the extra scalar.

We studied such scenarios in this paper in a rather general context. For that we distinguished three basic strategies of accommodating neutrino masses. Embedding of the SM in a larger gauge group, enlarging the field content of the SM by additional fields or extending the SM by a Hidden sector. In section 3 we present a catalogue of viable conformal neutrino mass models and describe them in more detail in the appendix.

Note that any neutrino mass between zero and the VEVs (or even somewhat bigger) can be obtained by selecting the corresponding Yukawa couplings. The wide spectrum of Yukawa couplings for other fermions of the SM implies that a wide spectrum of neutrino mass terms is expected in these scenarios. Note that very tiny neutrino masses are still quite



Figure 4. The phenomenologically allowed regions on the Mass Map are displayed. The averaged right handed scale normalized to the TeV scale of symmetry breaking is shown on the x-axis and the averaged EW Dirac mass is shown on the y-axis. Two regions are zoomed in and shown as insets. In the left upper corner the blow up shows the region around the TeV right handed scale, the color coding represents the non-unitarity of the active mixing matrix. In the right lower corner the region of sub-dominant Majorana masses is shown, the color code indicates the maximal expected effective electron neutrino mass for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decays. The experimental constraints are the limits on the rare decay $\mu \to e + \gamma$, shown as the magenta line, the lepton universality, shown as the blue line and the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, leading to the red exclusion line. The points allowed only in the inverse see-saw are shown in grey-green. The most universal bounds come from non-unitarity constraints, shown as a brown line with gradient one in the log-plot. The see-saw relation explains the lower boundary of the allowed region, it has gradient one-half in the log-plot. I is a fraction of parameter space without a see-saw relation, it is the Pseudo-Dirac region. Here neutrinos come in pairs of strongly mixed left and right particles, with mass splitting induced by Majorana mass fraction. II Yukawa see-saw with the upper bound- Scale 1- set by the requirement of perturbative couplings. **III** ISS allows perturbative couplings and at the same time the right handed mass up to Scale 2. The most natural parameter choice in the ISS scenario leads to considerable active-sterile mixing of states at the TeV scale and a significantly improved χ^2 of the Electro-Weak fit w.r.t. the standard model (light blue points).

natural, since the discussed models suppress them via a see-saw or via loops. We show that in the Yukawa see-saw model the adjustment of the couplings can be reduced to the same amount as present in the charged lepton sector. The amount of tuning the Yukawa couplings can be largely reduced if the neutrino mass generation is related to lepton number violation. If lepton number is taken to be an approximate symmetry, which is broken explicitly in the Lagrangian, the smallness of the braking parameter is natural in the sense, that its absence would increase the symmetry. The lepton number violation parameters can lead to light neutrino masses via loops, or to small Majorana mass contributions of Dirac particle pairs. We present several models where small and or loop suppressed lepton number violation is the driving principle behind neutrino mass generation. In particular when combined with the ISS mechanism the small Majorana mass fraction in the heavy Dirac neutrino pair leads to small active neutrino mass and no fine-tuning is needed.

In addition we perform in section 4 a phenomenological analysis with the goal to check whether the models can indeed reproduce the neutrino oscillation data and at the same time be consistent with rare decay experiments, as the $0\nu\beta\beta$ searches. Our finding is, that there are four phenomenologically viable regions.

Scenario A has only light neutrinos with Majorana masses, which are generated on tree or loop level by particles with lepton number violating couplings. This scenario can lead to detectable signals in the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decays and the additional states, such as the triplet scalar can be produced at colliders, since their mass must be about the TeV scale.

Scenario B is a Pseudo-Dirac scenario where pairs of light mass eigenstates are almost degenerate with only small Majorana mass fractions. This scenario requires, however, very small Dirac Yukawa couplings and is in general experimentally very challenging. The most promising searches for light Pseudo Dirac neutrinos are oscillations on cosmic scales which could probe the small mass splitting.

Scenario C is the Sub-TeV scenario with right handed Majorana states below the TeV scale. This region is severely constrained by limits in the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, since the lepton number violation is unsuppressed. The collider signature which one would expect are decays to same sign dileptons, a process practically without SM background.

In scenario D the right handed mass can be up to few ten TeV. This can be achieved in ISS models where several scalars are in the game and have a hierarchical VEV structure. The ISS scenario is of particular interest, since it improves the Electro-Weak fit with respect to its SM value. In this parameter region the active-sterile mixing is enlarged and can provide testable signals. This conformal ISS is also theoretically attractive since it contains Yukawas of order one and the smallness of the hidden sector parameters is implied by loop suppression and thus completely avoids fine-tuning. In this region the heavy sterile neutrinos are almost mass degenerate Pseudo Dirac pairs with small Majorana mass fractions. This leads to a suppression of lepton flavour violation and the most relevant constraints in this case, come from searches of lepton flavour violating decays, as $\mu \to e + \gamma$. At colliders a decay of such a heavy neutrino would have a trilepton final state and missing energy without lepton number violation as the smoking gun signal.

We briefly comment that the Hidden sector can contain almost decoupled Dark Matter candidates, which can be either coupled via the lepton portal to the SM or due to small active-sterile neutrino mixing. The masses are either at the EW or the keV scale. The observation here is, that taking the gauge hierarchy problem seriously can provide us with a hint for a Dark matter scale.

Additional signals in collider experiments are expected to appear in all viable neutrino mass models, since all require new scalar or fermionic states around the TeV mass region.

Therefore, we expect that all those models can be tested by the LHC. The collider signatures and neutrino experiments combined will provide very powerful tools for studying and distinguishing among the different scenarios. Phenomenological details of such models and further theoretical aspects will be discussed in future work.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Hiren Patel, Martin Holthausen, Branimir Radovcic, Julian Heeck and Kher-Sham Lim for helpful discussions. JS acknowledges support from the IMPRS for Precision Tests of Fundamental Symmetries.

A Conformal neutrino mass models

Models within the SM gauge group. We begin with the systematic description of viable conformal neutrino mass models. It will be very important in this section to point out which particles have been integrated out and which picture of neutrino mass generation we are considering.

(I) Models with dominant contributions to the left-handed Majorana entry.

• 3A: SM +
$$\nu_R + \varphi$$

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1);$$
 $H: (2, 1);$ $\nu_R: (1, 0); \varphi: (1, 0),$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y = g_H \overline{L} \widetilde{H} \nu_R + g_\varphi \varphi \overline{\nu_R^c} \nu_R + \text{h.c.}$$

-<u>Potential</u>:

$$V_{\rm I} = \lambda_H (H^{\dagger} H)^2 + \lambda_{\varphi} (\varphi^{\dagger} \varphi)^2 + \lambda_{H\varphi} (\varphi^{\dagger} \varphi) (H^{\dagger} H)$$

With this we find the diagrams



The first diagram is the tree level contribution while the other three are one-loop corrections to the first diagram and have thus a smaller contribution to the total neutrino mass. Further contributions have either at least two loops or 9 mass insertions and thus have even smaller impact on the masses.

The mass matrix has the following structure:

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} M_L & m_D \\ m_D & M_R \end{pmatrix} . \tag{A.1}$$

The masses are given by $M_R = g_{\phi} \langle \varphi \rangle$, $m_D = g_h \langle H \rangle$ and the loop supressed left handed contributions

$$M_L \approx \frac{g_H^2 g_\phi \langle H \rangle^2 \langle \varphi \rangle}{(4\pi)^2 \Lambda^2} + \frac{g_H^2 g_\phi \langle H \rangle^2 \langle \varphi \rangle}{M_R (4\pi)^2 \Lambda} \tag{A.2}$$

with Λ the dominant loop mass contribution. Integrating out the heavier right handed states leads to an effective mass for the light species of the order

$$m_{\nu} \approx g_{H}^{2} \frac{\langle H \rangle^{2}}{M_{R}} + \frac{g_{H}^{2} g_{\phi} \langle H \rangle^{2} \langle \varphi \rangle}{(4\pi)^{2} \Lambda^{2}} + \frac{g_{H}^{2} g_{\phi} \langle H \rangle^{2} \langle \varphi \rangle}{M_{R} (4\pi)^{2} \Lambda}$$

$$= \frac{g_{H}^{2}}{g_{\phi}} \frac{v_{H}^{2}}{v_{\varphi}} \left(1 + \frac{g_{\phi} v_{\varphi}}{(4\pi)^{2} \Lambda} + \frac{g_{\phi}^{2} v_{\varphi}^{2}}{(4\pi)^{2} \Lambda^{2}} \right).$$
(A.3)

With g_H being the Dirac and g_{ϕ} the Majorana type Yukawa coupling. The tree level contribution dominates in this scenario. We refer to this model type as the Yukawa see-saw.

We consider now in addition a moled with tree level correction to the left-handed Majorana entry by introducing a scalar triplet.

• 5A: SM + $\Delta + \varphi$

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1);$$
 $H: (2, 1);$ $\Delta: (3, -2); \varphi: (1, 0)$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathcal{L}_Y = g_\Delta \bar{L}\vec{\sigma}\Delta L^c + h.c. = g_\Delta(\bar{L}\vec{\sigma}\Delta L^c + \bar{L}^c\vec{\sigma}\Delta^*L)$$

- Potential:

$$V_{\rm II} = \lambda_H (H^{\dagger} H)^2 + \lambda_{\Delta T} Tr(\Delta^{\dagger} \Delta)^2 + \lambda_{T\Delta} (Tr(\Delta^{\dagger} \Delta))^2 + \lambda_{H\Delta,1} (H^{\dagger} H) Tr\Delta^{\dagger} \Delta + \lambda_{H\Delta,2} H^{\dagger} \Delta \Delta^{\dagger} H + \lambda_{\varphi} (\varphi^{\dagger} \varphi)^2 + \lambda_{H\varphi} (\varphi^{\dagger} \varphi) (H^{\dagger} H) + \lambda_{\varphi \Delta} (\varphi^{\dagger} \varphi) \operatorname{Tr} \Delta^{\dagger} \Delta + \lambda_{\varphi \Delta H} [\varphi H^T i \sigma_2 \Delta H + \text{h.c.}]$$

All 1-Particle-Irreducible (1PI) diagrams with up to 3 mass insertions and maximum one loop are given by



The theory at hand is the conformal analogue of the type II see-saw mechanism. Based on measurments of EWPOs the VEV $\langle \Delta_0 \rangle$ has to be orders of magnitude below the EW scale and in our single scale scenario it seems more natural for it to be exactly zero at tree level. Therefore, the main contribution comes from the third diagram which yields the neutrino mass

$$M_L = g_\Delta \frac{\lambda_{\varphi \Delta H}}{M_\Delta^2} \langle \varphi \rangle \langle H \rangle^2, \tag{A.4}$$

where M_{Δ} is the physical mass of the scalar triplet. This is controlled by the lepton number violating coupling $\lambda_{\varphi\Delta H}$, furthermore the neutrino mass is suppressed by the mass of the triplet scalar. The mass of the double charged triplet component is experimentally constrained to be above 450 GeV [67] and since there should be no large splitting among the components we assume the neutral component to be at least of the same order.

This model can be enlarged by right handed neutrinos, which leads us to

• 6A: SM + ν_R + φ + Δ

- <u>Particle content</u>:

 $L:(2,-1);\; H:(2,1);\; \Delta:(3,-2);\; \varphi:(1,0);\; \nu_R:(1,0)$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y = g_H \bar{L} \tilde{H} \nu_R + g_{\varphi} \varphi \bar{\nu}_R^c \nu_R + g_\Delta \bar{L} \vec{\sigma} \Delta L^c + \text{h.c.}$$

– <u>Potential</u>:

 $V = V_{\rm II}$

The following diagram is additional to those of 3A and 5A



t fermion o we now JHEP10 (2014) 17

The diagram contributes to the left handed mass an approximate term of the order $\langle H \rangle^2 \langle \Delta \rangle / ((4\pi)^2 \Lambda M_R)$ which is supressed by the smallness of the triplet VEV and therefore subdominant. In this model the φ field can have a VEV, which brings us to the Yukawa see-saw scenario, or it can have no VEV and the right handed neutrino only adds a Dirac contribution to the neutrino mass. In this case the phenomenology would be of the Pseudo Dirac scenario.

Like seen in the non-conformal case it is also possible to introduce a triplet fermion to couple to the left-handed doublet. Unlike in the non-conformal scenario we now have to introduce an uncharged singlet scalar to generate neutrino masses.

• 10A: SM + Σ + φ

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1); H: (2, 1); \Sigma: (3, 0); \varphi: (1, 0),$$

- Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y = g_{\Sigma} \tilde{H}^{\dagger} \overline{\Sigma} L + g_{\varphi} \varphi \operatorname{Tr} \left[\overline{\Sigma^c} \Sigma \right] + \text{h.c.}$$

-<u>Potential</u>:

$$V = V_{\mathrm{I}}$$

The main contribution to the neutrino mass is given by



This diagram yields the mass

$$M_L = g_{\Sigma}^2 \frac{\langle H \rangle^2}{g_{\varphi} \langle \varphi \rangle}.$$
 (A.5)

(II) Models with dominant contributions to the right-handed Majorana entry. Already in model **3A** right handed neutrinos with Majorana mass were considered. There are, however, further ways to influence the right-handed Majorana mass. The first possibility we want to study is to introduce a scalar and a fermion triplet and a scalar singlet.

- 1B: SM + ν_R + Σ + Δ + φ
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

$$\begin{array}{ll} L:(2,-1); & \nu_R:(1,0); & \Sigma:(3,0); \\ H:(2,1); & \Delta:(3,0); & \varphi:(1,0) \end{array}$$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y = g_H \bar{L} \tilde{H} \nu_R + g_\Delta \operatorname{Tr} \left[\overline{\Sigma} \Delta \nu_R \right] + g_{\varphi,1} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\varphi \overline{\Sigma^c} \Sigma \right] + g_{\varphi,2} \varphi \overline{\nu_R} \nu_R^c + \text{h.c.}$$

The relevant lepton number violating term in the potential is displayed.

– <u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi H^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}^{\dagger} \tilde{H} + \text{h.c.}$$

Furthermore we forbid the VEV of Δ . In addition to the diagram of **3A** we get the diagram



Note that the scalar triplet Δ cannot be used to generate left-handed Majorana masses as it has the wrong hypercharge. Adding contributions from both diagrams the right-handed mass is given by

$$M_R = g_{\varphi,2} \langle \varphi \rangle + \lambda^2 g_\Delta^2 \frac{\langle H \rangle^4 \langle \varphi \rangle^2}{M_\Sigma \cdot M_\Delta^4} \approx \left(g_{\varphi,2} + g_\Delta^2 \frac{\text{GeV}^2}{g_{\varphi,1} \langle \varphi \rangle^2} \right) \langle \varphi \rangle \,. \tag{A.6}$$

Here the fact was used, that the combination $\lambda \langle H \rangle^2 \langle \varphi \rangle / M_\Delta$ from the diagram induces an effective VEV of the triplet field , which is experimentally constrained by measurements of the ρ parameter to be $\langle \Delta \rangle \lesssim 1$ GeV. Thus the second term is subdominant.

Models with an additional hidden sector symmetry. The particle content is extended by additional SM singlet fermions. However, those would not be distinguishable from the sterile neutrinos ν_R if they had all quantum numbers in common. Now with the Hidden Sector symmetry, which will be denoted by U(1)_H, there are observable effects. The SM singlet fermions with a hidden charge are denoted by ν_x and this requires the mass matrix to be extended to 3×3 in the one flavour case

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} M_L & m_D & 0 \\ m_D & M_R & M_{Rx} \\ 0 & M_{Rx} & M_x \end{pmatrix} . \tag{A.7}$$

Note that the sterile neutrino ν_R must not carry a hidden charge, as otherwise coupling to the Higgs would be forbidden and the complete sector would decouple.

(I) Modifying the ν_R Majorana mass. We begin with a theory in which the direct term

$$g\varphi\overline{\nu_R}\nu_R^c$$
 (A.8)

is forbidden by the additional HS symmetry.

- 1C: SM $\times U_H(1)$
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

L: (2, -1, 0);	H:(2,1,0);	$ u_R: (1,0,0); $
$\nu_x: (1,0,1);$	$\varphi_1: (1, 0, 1);$	$\varphi_2: (1, 0, 2),$

where the third number in brackets denotes the HS charge. This particle content yields the additional terms

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_{Y_1} = g_1\varphi_1\overline{\nu_R}\nu_x^c + g_2\varphi_2\overline{\nu_x}\nu_x^c + g_H\overline{L}H\nu_R$$

If φ_1 and φ_2 get a VEV this theory yields the mass matrix

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D & 0 \\ m_D & 0 & M_{Rx} \\ 0 & M_{Rx} & M_x \end{pmatrix} .$$
(A.9)

This mass matrix represents the double see-saw mechanism [68]. In language of diagrams this model is represented by



Integrating out ν_x we obtain an effective mass M_R and find the contracted mass matrix

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D \\ m_D & M_R \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.10}$$

where M_R can be calculated from the diagram. Two cases are relevant, either if $M_{Rx} \ll M_x$ one has

$$M_R \approx \frac{g_1^2}{g_2} \frac{\langle \varphi_1 \rangle^2}{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle} \,, \tag{A.11}$$

or in the other limit $M_{Rx} \gg M_x$ the mass is

$$M_R \approx M_{Rx} = g_1 \langle \varphi_1 \rangle$$
 (A.12)

This indicates that it is possible to have either the double or the inverse see-saw scenario realized. So far there is no reason to assume that M_x is small, thus the more natural scenario in this model is the double see-saw, leading to a Sub-TeV see-saw scenario.

- 2C: SM $\times U_H(1)$
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

 $L: (2, -1, 0); H: (2, 1, 0); \nu_R: (1, 0, 0);$ $\nu_x: (1, 0, 2); \varphi_1: (1, 0, 0); \varphi_2: (1, 0, -2)$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

 $-\mathscr{L}_Y \supset -\mathscr{L}_{Y_1}$

We see that the Majorana mass term for the hidden sector fermion can not be constructed and hence the matrix structure is

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D & 0 \\ m_D & M_R & M_{Rx} \\ 0 & M_{Rx} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.13)

This is a structure of the minimal extended see-saw, discussed in [69], but here it is at the TeV scale. The interesting feature is that with $M_R > m_D$ and $M_R > M_{Rx}$ this see-saw scenario generates light active and sterile neutrinos which can have large mixing with the active sector. The light sterile neutrino could for instance explain the missing upturn in the Super Kamiokande data, as discussed in [33], a detailed discussion of this scenario is beyond the scope of this work.

A phenomenologically different scenario occurs if we forbid the VEV $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle$. Consider the following theory.

- 3C: SM $\times U_H(1)$
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1, 0); \qquad H: (2, 1, 0); \qquad \nu_R: (1, 0, 0); \qquad \nu_x: (1, 0, 1);$$

$$\varphi_1: (1, 0, 1); \qquad \varphi_2: (1, 0, 2); \qquad \varphi_3: (1, 0, -4),$$

Note that the newly introduced SM singlet scalar φ_3 does not change the Yukawa Lagrangian. There is, however, an additional potential term:

- Potential:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi_1^2 \varphi_2 \varphi_3 + \text{h.c.}$$

Thus if we forbid, as mentioned, the VEV of φ_1 , the diagram with the main contribution to M_R is given by



The mass of the right handed neutrino is generated at one loop and the effective mass matrix reads

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D \\ m_D & M_R \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{A.14}$$

To approximate the scale of M_R we use the fact that this loop has the same topology as in the Ma model. Therefore, the right handed mass scale is

$$M_R \approx \frac{\lambda}{16\pi^2} \frac{g_1^2}{g_2} \left\langle \varphi_3 \right\rangle I\left(\frac{\left\langle \varphi_2 \right\rangle^2}{M_{\varphi_1}^2}\right) \,, \tag{A.15}$$

with
$$I(x) = \frac{1}{1-x} \left(1 + \frac{x \log x}{1-x} \right)$$
. (A.16)

Thus the right handed mass is loop suppressed and controlled by the parameter λ , which if set to zero increases the Lagrangian symmetry. Therefore, this model leads to a scenario with Pseudo-Dirac active neutrinos.

• 4C: SM $\times U_H(1)$

- <u>Particle content</u>:

L: (2, -1, 0);	H:(2,1,0);	$ u_R: (1,0,0); $
$ \nu_x : (1, 0, 1); $	$\Sigma:(3,0,1);$	$\Delta:(3,0,1);$
H:(2,1,0);	$\varphi_1: (1, 0, 1);$	$\varphi_2: (1, 0, 2)$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y = -\mathscr{L}_{Y_1} + g_\Delta \operatorname{Tr}\left[\overline{\Sigma}\Delta\nu_R\right] + g_\Sigma \operatorname{Tr}\left[\varphi_2 \overline{\Sigma^c}\Sigma\right] + \text{h.c.}$$

Potential:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi_1 H^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}^{\dagger} \tilde{H} + \text{h.c.}$$

Note that we only displayed terms in the Yukawa Lagrangian and the potential that are relevant for the lowest order diagram of right-handed neutrino mass generation. The diagram additional to 1C is given by



If Δ does not get a VEV at tree level this is the leading tree-level diagram in the 3×3 space as the term $\varphi \overline{\nu_R} \nu_R^c$ is forbidden. The right-handed mass M_R can therefore be estimated using the same argument as in **1B**

$$M_R = \frac{\lambda^2 g_{\Delta}^2}{g_{\Sigma}} \left(\frac{\langle H \rangle}{M_{\Delta}}\right)^4 \frac{\langle \varphi_1 \rangle^2}{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle} \lesssim \frac{g_{\Delta}^2}{g_{\Sigma}} \frac{\text{GeV}^2}{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle}.$$
 (A.17)

This means that the mass matrix is given by

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D & 0 \\ m_D & M_R & M_{Rx} \\ 0 & M_{Rx} & M_x \end{pmatrix} . \tag{A.18}$$

Which is similar to 1C but with a non vanishing M_R at tree level.

Now we turn to a theory with different phenomenology by forbidding the VEV of φ_1 .

- 5C: SM $\times U_H(1)$
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

L: (2, -1, 0);	$ \nu_R: (1,0,0); $	$\Sigma:(3,0,1);$	$\Delta:(3,0,1);$
H:(2,1,0);	$\varphi_1: (1, 0, 1);$	$\varphi_2: (1, 0, 2);$	$\varphi_3:(1,0,-4)$

The Yukawa Lagrangian is the same as in the previous theory, while we get an additional potential term.

- Potential:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi_1 H^T i \sigma_2 \Delta^{\dagger} \tilde{H} + \lambda' \varphi_1^2 \varphi_2 \varphi_3 + \text{h.c.} + \dots$$

With $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = 0$ the lowest order diagram contributing to the right-handed neutrino mass is given by



Using the fact that the loop has the same topology as in 3C and just the external VEVs are different we get

$$M_R \approx \frac{\lambda^2 \lambda'}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{\langle H \rangle}{M_\Delta}\right)^4 \frac{g_\Delta^2}{g_\Sigma} \langle \varphi_3 \rangle I\left(\frac{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle^2}{M_{\varphi_1}^2}\right) \,. \tag{A.19}$$

This loop suppression combined with a mass suppression to the fourth power with the Triplet mass can generate the Pseudo-Dirac scenario for active neutrinos without large fine tuning in the Majorana mass sector.

(II) Modifying the ν_x Majorana mass. The general mass matrix structure for the following models will be of the form

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D & 0 \\ m_D & 0 & M_{Rx} \\ 0 & M_{Rx} & M_x \end{pmatrix} .$$
(A.20)

• 1D: SM $\times U_H(1)$

- <u>Particle content</u>:

L: (2, -1, 0);	$ u_R: (1,0,0); $	$ \nu_x: (1,0,1); $
$\Sigma:(3,0,-2);$	H:(2,1,0);	$\varphi_1:(1,0,-3);$
$\varphi_2: (1, 0, -4);$	$\Delta:(3,0,-3);$	$arphi_4:(1,0,1)$

- Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y \supset g_H \overline{L} \widetilde{H} \nu_R + g_{Rx} \varphi_4 \overline{\nu_R} \nu_x^c + g_\Delta \operatorname{Tr} \left[\overline{\Sigma} \Delta \nu_x \right] + g_\Sigma \operatorname{Tr} \left[\varphi_2 \overline{\Sigma^c} \Sigma \right] + \text{h.c.}$$

– <u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi_1 H^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}^{\dagger} \tilde{H} + \text{h.c.} + \dots$$

The leading diagram is



The mass matrix is given by eq. (A.20) and the Majorana mass of ν_x is

$$M_x = \frac{\lambda^2 g_{\Delta}^2}{g_{\Sigma}} \left(\frac{\langle H \rangle}{M_{\Delta}}\right)^4 \frac{\langle \varphi_1 \rangle^2}{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle} \lesssim \frac{g_{\Delta}^2}{g_{\Sigma}} \frac{\text{GeV}^2}{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle},$$

where the suppression of the small lepton number violating contribution by the heavy scalar VEV makes it an inverse see-saw scenario. Implying sterile neutrinos with at the TeV scale and slightly above. Those form pseudo Dirac pairs and can have seizable mixing with the active neutrinos. With the mass scale of $\langle \varphi_2 \rangle$ around a few TeV and the yuakawa couplings of $g_{\Delta} \approx 10^{-1}$ and $g_{\Sigma} \approx 1$, the scale M_x is naturally at the keV scale, which is required phenomenologically to have sub eV active neutrino masses. The active-sterile mixing is approximately given by $(m_D/M_{Rx})^2$ and can in principle range from 1% to undetectable values below 10^{-10} . The interesting observation is that small active-sterile mixing requires unnaturaly small Dirac Yukawa couplings in this model.

It is possible that the ν_x Majorana masses are generated radiatively.

• 2D: SM $\times U_H(1)$

- <u>Particle content</u>:

L: (2, -1, 0);	$ u_R: (1,0,0); $	$ u_x: (1, 0, 1); $	
$\Sigma:(3,0,-2);$	H:(2,1,0);	$\varphi_1:(1,0,-3);$	
$\varphi_2: (1, 0, -4);$	$\varphi_3: (1, 0, 10);$	$\Delta:(3,0,-3);$	$\varphi_4:(1,0,1)$

Here $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = 0$ and the Yukawa Lagrangian is the same as in the theory before. The potential, however, is extended.

-<u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi_1 H^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}^{\dagger} \tilde{H} + \lambda' \varphi_1^2 \varphi_2 \varphi_3 + \text{h.c.}$$

We obtain the following diagram



As before the Majorana mass of ν_x can be approximated by

$$M_R \sim 10^{-2} \cdot \frac{g_\Delta^2 \lambda^2 \lambda'}{g_\Sigma} \left(\frac{\langle H \rangle}{M_\Delta}\right)^4 \cdot EWS \,.$$
 (A.21)

We see that in this setup the ν_x mass is at the keV scale when the Yukawa couplings are of order one, the potential terms between 0.1 and one and the Triplet around the TeV scale. This is the right scale for the inverse see-saw scenario. Note that as before we need another scalar φ_4 for the connection between SM sector and Hidden Sector.

B Fully radiative generated left-handed masses

As was shown by 2.3 there is no way of generating left-handed neutrino masses radiatively by pairwise coupling scalars in the potential. We go through the five possibilities for non pairwise coupling of scalars and study whether radiative mass generation is possible. Furthermore, we present possibilities to circumvent 2.3. • **Possibility 1**: we can introduce a potential coupling of four different SU(2) singlet scalars such that their hypercharges add up to zero. In this case one SU(2) singlet with vanishing hypercharge has to be included as we need an electrically neutral scalar to gain a VEV.

With this kind of coupling it is indeed possible to construct a theory that generates neutrino masses fully radiatively. Consider as an example the theory **11A**.

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1); \ \ell_R: (1, -2); \ H: (2, 1); \ \delta_-: (1, -2); \ \epsilon_{++}: (1, 4)$$

- Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y \supset g_{\delta} \bar{L} L^c \delta_- + g_{\epsilon} \overline{l_R^c} \ell_R \epsilon_{++} + \overline{L} H \ell_R + \text{h.c.}$$

- <u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda \varphi \delta_{-} \delta_{-} \epsilon_{++} + \text{h.c.} + \dots$$

For this theory we find the radiative generation of neutrino masses represented by the diagram:



The crosses denote the insertion of a Higgs VEV, i.e. they represent the mass of the charged lepton. This theory is the conformally invariant analogue to the Zee-Babu model. The corresponding left-handed neutrino mass is given by

$$M_L = 8\lambda \langle \varphi \rangle m_l^2 g_\delta^2 g_\epsilon I \,, \tag{B.1}$$

where I is given by eq. (B.2).

$$I = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 q}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p^2 - m_l^2} \frac{1}{q^2 - m_l^2} \times \frac{1}{p^2 - m_\delta^2} \frac{1}{q^2 - m_\delta^2} \frac{1}{(p - q)^2 - m_\epsilon^2}.$$
(B.2)

• **Possibility 2**: we can introduce an additional SU(2) doublet H_2 , an additional charged scalar singlet η_+ and a total singlet $\varphi : (1,0)$. As stated by before there has to be a term in the potential with non pairwise coupled scalars. This λ_L term violates lepton number and its size controls the neutrino masses.

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1); \qquad \ell_R: (1, -2); \qquad H_1: (2, 1); \\ H_2: (2, 1); \qquad \eta_+: (1, +2); \qquad \varphi: (1, 0)$$

With additional terms in the Yukawa Lagrangian and potential.

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y \supset g_1 \eta_+ \bar{L} \, i\sigma_2 L^c + g_2 \, \bar{L} H_2 \ell_R + \text{h.c.}$$

- <u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda_L \eta \tilde{H}_1^{\dagger} H_2 \varphi + \text{h.c.} + \dots$$

The loop diagram gives neutrino masses



which have the mass pattern as the non conformal Zee model [70], with the difference that the dimensionful parameter controlling the neutrino masses is replaced by the product of the coupling with the scalar VEV $\lambda_L \cdot \langle \varphi \rangle$, see **12A**.

• **Possibility 3**: we can introduce a potential coupling of 3 different SU(2) doublets such that their hypercharges add up to zero in the following structure

$$\left(\phi_1^{\dagger}\vec{\sigma}H_i\right)\left(\tilde{H}_j^{\dagger}\vec{\sigma}H_j\right). \tag{B.3}$$

As proposed in [41] an additional doubly charged singlet scalar can be used to gain neutrino masses at two loop level. In a conformal model, however, an additional scalar is required to have a lepton number violating term in the Lagrangian without an explicit mass scale.

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L: (2, -1); \qquad \ell_R: (1, -2); \qquad \phi_1: (2, 3); \\ H_1: (2, 1); \qquad H_2: (2, 1); \qquad \eta: (1, -4); \qquad \phi_2: (1, 0)$$

- Yukawa Lagrangian:

 $-\mathscr{L}_Y \supset g \eta \,\bar{\ell}_R \ell_R^c + \text{h.c.}$

- <u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda_i \phi_2 \eta \phi_1^{\dagger} \tilde{H}_i + \lambda_{ij} \left(\phi_1^{\dagger} \vec{\sigma} H_i \right) \left(\tilde{H}_j^{\dagger} \vec{\sigma} H_j \right)$$

Here, both doublets H_1 and H_2 as well as the singlet scalar get a VEV and generate neutrino masses at two loop level.

• **Possibility 4**: a potential term coupling 4 different SU(2) triplets such that their hypercharges add up to zero in the following way

$$\left(\Delta_1^{\dagger} \Delta_2\right) \left(\Delta_3^{\dagger} \Delta_4\right) \,. \tag{B.4}$$

This term generates neutrino masses at the two loop level with the same topology as in the conformal Zee-Babu model in example 1.

• Possibility 5: a further term that can be introduced is given by the coupling

$$\varphi H_1^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}^{\dagger} H_2 \,, \tag{B.5}$$

where φ is a SU(2) singlet, H_1 and H_2 are doublets and Δ is a SU(2) triplet with hypercharges such that they add up to zero in this term. That with the help of such a coupling the fully radiative generation of neutrino masses is possible can be seen in the following theory:

- <u>Particle content</u>:

$$L_1 : (2, -1); \qquad L_2 : (2, -3); \qquad L_3 : (2, 0)$$

$$\Delta_1 : (3, -4); \qquad \Delta_2 : (3, -3); \qquad \Delta_3 : (3, -1)$$

$$H_1 : (2, 1); \qquad H_2 : (2, -1); \qquad H_3 : (2, -3); \qquad H_4 : (2, 0) \qquad \varphi : (1, 0)$$

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathcal{L}_Y \supset g_a \bar{L}_1 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_1 L_2^c + g_b \bar{L}_2 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_2 L_3^c + g_c \bar{L}_3 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_3 L_1^c + \text{h.c.}$$

-<u>Potential</u>:

$$V = \lambda_a \varphi H_2^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}_1^{\dagger} H_3$$

+ $\lambda_b \varphi H_3^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}_2^{\dagger} H_4 + \lambda_c \varphi H_4^T i \sigma_2 \mathbf{\Delta}_3^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{h.c.}$
+ $\lambda_{13} (H_3^{\dagger} H_3) (H_1^{\dagger} H_1) + \lambda_{14} (H_4^{\dagger} H_4) (H_1^{\dagger} H_1)$
+ pairwise couplings

If we forbid the VEVs $\langle \Delta_1 \rangle$, $\langle \Delta_2 \rangle$ and $\langle \Delta_3 \rangle$, then the following diagram describes the radiative generation of neutrino masses:



Admittedly this theory is very baroque and can be phenomenologically problematic. Especially to ensure anomaly cancellation the new fermions have to be vector like. The particle content in the loop is intended to show that it is possible to generate neutrino masses fully radiatively from a topological point of view.

- Alternative 1: so far in the radiative models no additional symmetries were considered. However, the argument of 2.3 can be avoided if a new symmetry is present, which forbids tree level couplings for fermion singlets in the SM Dirac term. If there is a discrete symmetry, for example Z_2 under which all SM particles are even and the spectrum given by
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

 $L(2,1,(+)); H_1:(2,1,(+)); H_2:(2,1,(-)); \nu_x:(1,0,(-)); \varphi:(1,0,(+))$

Additional in the Yuakawa Lagrangian there are the following terms.

– Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$-\mathscr{L}_Y \supset g_1 \bar{L} H_2 \nu_x + g_2 \varphi \bar{\nu_x} \nu_x^c + \text{h.c.}$$

The relevant coupling in the potential is:

-<u>Potential</u>:

$$V \supset \lambda (H_2^{\dagger} H_1)^2 + \text{pairwise couplings}$$

with H_1 being the SM Higgs. This would be the conformal analogue of the Ma model and generates neutrino masses at one loop level. Note, however, that in general discrete symmetries are not so restrictive. Therefore, in our models continuous symmetries are used. For example a hidden sector U(1) would have the same effect on the Yukawa Lagrangian, but the potential term would be forbidden. Thus a model of this type can only generate neutrino masses in the hidden sector, as shown in the model **3C**.

- Alternative 2: to circumvent the argument of 2.3 we can allow fermion loops. The following theory shows that it is possible to construct left-handed Majorana masses such that the lowest order diagram has to be a full loop diagram.
 - <u>Particle content</u>:

 $L_1: (2, -1); L_2: (2, 0); L_3: (2, 2); L_4: (2, -2)$ $\Delta_1: (3, -2); \Delta_2: (3, 0); \Delta_3: (3, 2)$

- Yukawa Lagrangian:

$$\begin{split} -\mathscr{L}_Y \supset g_{11} \bar{L}_1 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_1 L_1^c + g_{24} \bar{L}_2 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_1 L_4^c + g_{22} \bar{L}_2 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_2 L_2^c \\ &+ g_{23} \bar{L}_2 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_3 L_3^c + g_{34} \bar{L}_3 \vec{\sigma} \Delta_2 L_4^c + \text{h.c.} \end{split}$$

Furthermore we require the VEV of the neutral component of Δ_1 to vanish. The following diagram is then the lowest order contribution to the left-handed neutrino masses:



Like before this theory can be phenomenologically problematic. And again it is only intended to show that the topological possibility of fully radiative mass generation in conformally invariant theories with pairwise scalar coupling exists when introducing fermion loops.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- C.G. Callan Jr., Broken scale invariance in scalar field theory, Phys. Rev. D 2 (1970) 1541 [INSPIRE].
- [2] W.A. Bardeen, On naturalness in the standard model, (1995).
- [3] S.R. Coleman and E.J. Weinberg, *Radiative corrections as the origin of spontaneous symmetry breaking*, *Phys. Rev.* D 7 (1973) 1888 [INSPIRE].
- [4] J.P. Fatelo, J.M. Gerard, T. Hambye and J. Weyers, Symmetry breaking induced by top loops, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 74 (1995) 492 [INSPIRE].
- [5] R. Hempfling, The next-to-minimal Coleman-Weinberg model, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 153 [hep-ph/9604278] [INSPIRE].
- [6] T. Hambye, Symmetry breaking induced by top quark loops from a model without scalar mass, Phys. Lett. B 371 (1996) 87 [hep-ph/9510266] [INSPIRE].
- [7] K.A. Meissner and H. Nicolai, Conformal symmetry and the standard model, Phys. Lett. B 648 (2007) 312 [hep-th/0612165] [INSPIRE].
- [8] R. Foot, A. Kobakhidze and R.R. Volkas, Electroweak Higgs as a pseudo-Goldstone boson of broken scale invariance, Phys. Lett. B 655 (2007) 156 [arXiv:0704.1165] [INSPIRE].
- R. Foot, A. Kobakhidze, K. McDonald and R. Volkas, Neutrino mass in radiatively-broken scale-invariant models, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 075014 [arXiv:0706.1829] [INSPIRE].

- [10] W.-F. Chang, J.N. Ng and J.M.S. Wu, Shadow Higgs from a scale-invariant hidden U(1)_s model, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 115016 [hep-ph/0701254] [INSPIRE].
- [11] T. Hambye and M.H.G. Tytgat, Electroweak symmetry breaking induced by dark matter, Phys. Lett. B 659 (2008) 651 [arXiv:0707.0633] [INSPIRE].
- [12] K.A. Meissner and H. Nicolai, Effective action, conformal anomaly and the issue of quadratic divergences, Phys. Lett. B 660 (2008) 260 [arXiv:0710.2840] [INSPIRE].
- K.A. Meissner and H. Nicolai, Conformal invariance from non-conformal gravity, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 086005 [arXiv:0907.3298] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Iso, N. Okada and Y. Orikasa, Classically conformal B-L extended standard model, Phys. Lett. B 676 (2009) 81 [arXiv:0902.4050] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Holthausen, M. Lindner and M.A. Schmidt, Radiative symmetry breaking of the minimal left-right symmetric model, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 055002 [arXiv:0911.0710] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Iso, N. Okada and Y. Orikasa, The minimal B-L model naturally realized at TeV scale, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 115007 [arXiv:0909.0128] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R. Foot, A. Kobakhidze and R.R. Volkas, Cosmological constant in scale-invariant theories, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 075010 [arXiv:1012.4848] [INSPIRE].
- [18] V.V. Khoze, Inflation and dark matter in the Higgs portal of classically scale invariant standard model, JHEP 11 (2013) 215 [arXiv:1308.6338] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Y. Kawamura, Naturalness, conformal symmetry and duality, PTEP 2013 (2013) 113B04
 [arXiv:1308.5069] [INSPIRE].
- [20] F. Gretsch and A. Monin, *Dilaton: saving conformal symmetry*, arXiv:1308.3863 [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Heikinheimo, A. Racioppi, M. Raidal, C. Spethmann and K. Tuominen, *Physical naturalness and dynamical breaking of classical scale invariance*, *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A 29 (2014) 1450077 [arXiv:1304.7006] [INSPIRE].
- [22] E. Gabrielli et al., Towards completing the standard model: vacuum stability, EWSB and dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 015017 [arXiv:1309.6632] [INSPIRE].
- [23] C.D. Carone and R. Ramos, Classical scale-invariance, the electroweak scale and vector dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 055020 [arXiv:1307.8428] [INSPIRE].
- [24] V.V. Khoze and G. Ro, Leptogenesis and neutrino oscillations in the classically conformal standard model with the Higgs portal, JHEP 10 (2013) 075 [arXiv:1307.3764] [INSPIRE].
- [25] C. Englert, J. Jaeckel, V.V. Khoze and M. Spannowsky, Emergence of the electroweak scale through the Higgs portal, JHEP 04 (2013) 060 [arXiv:1301.4224] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Farzinnia, H.-J. He and J. Ren, Natural electroweak symmetry breaking from scale invariant Higgs mechanism, Phys. Lett. B 727 (2013) 141 [arXiv:1308.0295] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Abel and A. Mariotti, Novel Higgs potentials from gauge mediation of exact scale breaking, arXiv:1312.5335 [INSPIRE].
- [28] R. Foot, A. Kobakhidze, K.L. McDonald and R.R. Volkas, Poincaré protection for a natural electroweak scale, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 115018 [arXiv:1310.0223] [INSPIRE].
- [29] C.T. Hill, Is the Higgs boson associated with Coleman-Weinberg dynamical symmetry breaking?, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 073003 [arXiv:1401.4185] [INSPIRE].

- [30] J. Guo and Z. Kang, *Higgs naturalness and dark matter stability by scale invariance*, arXiv:1401.5609 [INSPIRE].
- [31] S. Benic and B. Radovcic, Electroweak breaking and dark matter from the common scale, Phys. Lett. B 732 (2014) 91 [arXiv:1401.8183] [INSPIRE].
- [32] V.V. Khoze, C. McCabe and G. Ro, Higgs vacuum stability from the dark matter portal, JHEP 08 (2014) 026 [arXiv:1403.4953] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Smirnov, Regularization of vacuum fluctuations and frame dependence, arXiv:1402.1490 [INSPIRE].
- [34] K. Kannike, A. Racioppi and M. Raidal, Embedding inflation into the standard model more evidence for classical scale invariance, JHEP 06 (2014) 154 [arXiv:1405.3987] [INSPIRE].
- [35] P.H. Chankowski, A. Lewandowski, K.A. Meissner and H. Nicolai, *Softly broken conformal symmetry and the stability of the electroweak scale*, arXiv:1404.0548 [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Farzinnia and J. Ren, Higgs partner searches and dark matter phenomenology in a classically scale invariant Higgs boson sector, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 015019
 [arXiv:1405.0498] [INSPIRE].
- [37] K. Ishiwata, Dark matter in classically scale-invariant two singlets standard model, Phys. Lett. B 710 (2012) 134 [arXiv:1112.2696] [INSPIRE].
- [38] H. Cheng, Dark matter and scale invariance, math-ph/0407010 [INSPIRE].
- [39] R. Foot, A. Kobakhidze and R.R. Volkas, Stable mass hierarchies and dark matter from hidden sectors in the scale-invariant standard model, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 035005 [arXiv:1006.0131] [INSPIRE].
- [40] K.A. Meissner and H. Nicolai, Neutrinos, axions and conformal symmetry, Eur. Phys. J. C 57 (2008) 493 [arXiv:0803.2814] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S.S.C. Law and K.L. McDonald, The simplest models of radiative neutrino mass, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 29 (2014) 1450064 [arXiv:1303.6384] [INSPIRE].
- [42] E. Ma, Verifiable radiative seesaw mechanism of neutrino mass and dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 077301 [hep-ph/0601225] [INSPIRE].
- [43] E. Gildener and S. Weinberg, Symmetry breaking and scalar bosons, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 3333 [INSPIRE].
- [44] F. Deppisch and J.W.F. Valle, Enhanced lepton flavor violation in the supersymmetric inverse seesaw model, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 036001 [hep-ph/0406040] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Abada and M. Lucente, Looking for the minimal inverse seesaw realisation, Nucl. Phys. B 885 (2014) 651 [arXiv:1401.1507] [INSPIRE].
- [46] E. Akhmedov, A. Kartavtsev, M. Lindner, L. Michaels and J. Smirnov, *Improving electro-weak fits with TeV-scale sterile neutrinos*, *JHEP* 05 (2013) 081 [arXiv:1302.1872]
 [INSPIRE].
- [47] J.F. Beacom et al., Pseudo-Dirac neutrinos: a challenge for neutrino telescopes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 011101 [hep-ph/0307151] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Antusch, C. Biggio, E. Fernandez-Martinez, M.B. Gavela and J. Lopez-Pavon, Unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix, JHEP 10 (2006) 084 [hep-ph/0607020] [INSPIRE].

- [49] M.E. Peskin and T. Takeuchi, A new constraint on a strongly interacting Higgs sector, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 (1990) 964 [INSPIRE].
- [50] W. Rodejohann, Neutrinoless double beta decay and neutrino physics, J. Phys. G 39 (2012) 124008 [arXiv:1206.2560] [INSPIRE].
- [51] GERDA collaboration, C. Macolino, Results on neutrinoless double beta decay from GERDA Phase I, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 29 (2014) 1430001 [arXiv:1312.0562] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. de Gouvêa, W.-C. Huang and J. Jenkins, Pseudo-Dirac neutrinos in the new standard model, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 073007 [arXiv:0906.1611] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Ibarra, E. Molinaro and S.T. Petcov, TeV scale see-saw mechanisms of neutrino mass generation, the Majorana nature of the heavy singlet neutrinos and $(\beta\beta)_{0\nu}$ -decay, JHEP **09** (2010) 108 [arXiv:1007.2378] [INSPIRE].
- [54] W.-Y. Keung and G. Senjanović, Majorana neutrinos and the production of the right-handed charged gauge boson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50 (1983) 1427 [INSPIRE].
- [55] J. Kersten and A.Y. Smirnov, Right-handed neutrinos at CERN LHC and the mechanism of neutrino mass generation, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 073005 [arXiv:0705.3221] [INSPIRE].
- [56] MEG collaboration, J. Adam et al., New constraint on the existence of the $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+ \gamma$ decay, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110** (2013) 201801 [arXiv:1303.0754] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Das and N. Okada, Inverse seesaw neutrino signatures at the LHC and ILC, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 113001 [arXiv:1207.3734] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Das, P.S. Bhupal Dev and N. Okada, Direct bounds on electroweak scale pseudo-Dirac neutrinos from $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV LHC data, Phys. Lett. B 735 (2014) 364 [arXiv:1405.0177] [INSPIRE].
- [59] P.S.B. Dev, A. Pilaftsis and U.-k. Yang, New production mechanism for heavy neutrinos at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 081801 [arXiv:1308.2209] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Q.-H. Cao, E. Ma and G. Shaughnessy, Dark Matter: The Leptonic Connection, Phys. Lett. B 673 (2009) 152 [arXiv:0901.1334] [INSPIRE].
- [61] F. Giacchino, L. Lopez-Honorez and M.H.G. Tytgat, Scalar dark matter models with significant internal bremsstrahlung, JCAP 10 (2013) 025 [arXiv:1307.6480] [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Toma, Internal bremsstrahlung signature of real scalar dark matter and consistency with thermal relic density, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 091301 [arXiv:1307.6181] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. Kopp, L. Michaels and J. Smirnov, Loopy constraints on leptophilic dark matter and internal bremsstrahlung, JCAP 04 (2014) 022 [arXiv:1401.6457] [INSPIRE].
- [64] O. Antipin, M. Mojaza and F. Sannino, Conformal extensions of the standard model with Veltman conditions, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 085015 [arXiv:1310.0957] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A.D. Dolgov and S.H. Hansen, Massive sterile neutrinos as warm dark matter, Astropart. Phys. 16 (2002) 339 [hep-ph/0009083] [INSPIRE].
- [66] F. Bezrukov, H. Hettmansperger and M. Lindner, keV sterile neutrino dark matter in gauge extensions of the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 085032 [arXiv:0912.4415]
 [INSPIRE].
- [67] CMS collaboration, Inclusive search for doubly charged Higgs in leptonic final states with the 2011 data at 7 TeV, (2012).

- [68] S.M. Barr, A different seesaw formula for neutrino masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 101601 [hep-ph/0309152] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J. Heeck and H. Zhang, Exotic charges, multicomponent dark matter and light sterile neutrinos, JHEP 05 (2013) 164 [arXiv:1211.0538] [INSPIRE].
- [70] A. Zee, Charged scalar field and quantum number violations, Phys. Lett. B 161 (1985) 141 [INSPIRE].